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March 5
Tabletop Exercises were

held with Disaster
Recovery and Functional

Area Recovery Teams.

March 17
The First Pandemic Update
meeting was called. Meetings
were set to repeat each
Monday and Thursday morning.

March 18
CNB lobbies were
restricted.

March 22
Illinois Governor

Pritzker issues
Stay-at-Home

order.

March 2
U.S. declaration
of Public Health

Emergency

January 21
First U.S.
COVID-19 case
was confirmed.

March 24
Essential Employee
Travel Letter was
created.

March 23
CNB Employees began
to work remotely during
“Stay-at Home” order.

March 27
Coronavirus Aid Relief
and Economic Security
(CARES) Act passed
which provided an initial
$349 billion in Paycheck
Protection Program (PPP)
loan funding.

May 4
Cleaning companies were
contacted for branch
cleaning quotes.

May 19
Sneeze guard quotes
were approved and
ordered.

June 30
CNB had received a
cumulative 908 PPP

loan applications
totaling

$78,724,980.69.

May 15
Health and Economic
Recovery Omnibus
Emergency Solutions
(HEROES) Act

June 30
Deadline for

PPP loan
applications

April 24
Paycheck Protection Program and
Healthcare Enhancement Act passed
which provided an additional $320
billion to PPP loan funding.

April 16
Initial PPP loan funding
is exhausted.

April 16
CNB had received
486 PPP loan
applications totaling
$63,477,385.69.

May 6
The COVID-19 Relief
Grant was provided by
FHLB of Chicago.

June 1
Most lobbies
began to open
with newly
installed sneeze
guards and social
distancing
signage.
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August 8
CNB had received a
cumulative 946 PPP

loan applications
totaling $79,156,934.69.

October 30
Lobbies began to return
to “restricted” status.
Customers were directed
to use the drive-up.

November 13
All lobbies were restricted.

December 27
Consolidated

Appropriations Act
signed. This provided

an additional $284
billion in PPP funding

under new terms.

August 8
Extended deadline for
PPP loan applications.

August 10
CNB processed
the first PPP loan
forgiveness
application.

October 7
The SBA funds CNB’s first PPP
loan forgiveness request.

September 17
The Targeted
Impact Fund was
provided by FHLB
of Chicago.

July 4
Deadline for PPP loan
applications was
extended.

October 26
Illinois State Public
Health Officials
announce COVID-19
resurgence.

December 3
One day count of new U.S.

COVID cases surges to over
200,000 for the first time.

September 24
CNB supports
local businesses
with matching
funds. (Targeted
Impact Fund)



CNB’s board and
management began 2020
with optimism. It would
be the first full year of
operating the combined
$1.3 billion bank,
expanded by the merger
with Jacksonville Savings
Bank in February of 2019.
Interest rates had trended
lower, which were
squeezing net interest
margins somewhat, but a
full-employment national
economy influenced our
budgeting for healthy
growth in both loans and
deposits, and in net
income.

The first confirmed case
of the COVID-19 virus in
the U.S. was reported

January 21, 2020. Just two days later, China placed a
lockdown in an area around Wuhan that restricted
travel for more than 18 million people. One week later,
the World Health Organization declared a public health
emergency for just the sixth time. Within three more
days, the U.S. restricted travel from China, and
declared a Public Health Emergency in this country;
three weeks later, the Center for Disease Control
reported that COVID-19 already met 2 of 3 factors to
be classified as a pandemic.

The management team at CNB took the precautions
seriously, and early-on began conference calls on
Monday and Thursday mornings with staff from all of
our regional branch networks and operational
departments. Topics included: the security of our
employees and customers; branch staffing concerns;
deposit growth or decline; crisis related loan demand;
rate and payment concessions; demand for residential
mortgage financing; Trust/Wealth Management Group
issues; cash demand at ATMs and drive-ups; and
communication with regulators and customers.
Eventually, lobby access was restricted beginning
March 18, although drive-ups remained open, and
customers could make appointments to meet with
certain personnel. During this period, lobbies were
retrofitted with sneeze guards, signage, and hand
sanitizer. Following professional cleaning and
sanitizing, lobbies began to reopen in early June.

Some of CNB’s operational staff could work from
home. We were “managing through” the crisis.

On March 27, the $2 trillion CARES Act stimulus was
signed into law, including $250 billion for direct
payments to individuals and families, and the $349
billion Paycheck Protection Program (PPP) to be
implemented by the U.S. Small Business Administration
(SBA). Essentially, the PPP loans are for eligible
businesses to cover payroll, mortgage interest, rent,
and utility costs over a limited period of time; qualified
PPP loans would be eligible for forgiveness from
repayment. By April 16, initial funding had been
exhausted and the SBA reported that nearly 5,000
lending organizations, primarily banks, had submitted
more than 1,650,000 PPP loans totaling over $342
billion. The vast majority of those loans were under
$150,000. At this time, CNB had processed 486 loan
applications totaling $63,477,385.69. On April 24, the
President signed the Paycheck Protection Program and
Health Care Enhancement Act to add $320 billion of
funding to the PPP. Upon the deadline of June 30,
CNB’s lenders and processors received SBA approval
for 908 loans totaling $78,724,980.69. The process of
gathering necessary customer information for
applications, processing approvals, and inputting to
the SBA site dominated the workday for many in our
loan department, well into evenings and weekends.
Clearly the need was great, and demand was brisk. On
July 4, the deadline to apply for a PPP loan in the first
round was extended from June 30 to August 8. This
extension produced 38 more CNB applicants resulting
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in a cumulative total of 946 submissions totaling
$79,156,934.69. On December 21, the Consolidated
Appropriations Act, 2021 was signed which included an
additional $284 billion PPP funding. The SBA began
approving loans in a second round of PPP in early
January 2021.

Additionally, the loan department handled numerous
requests for loan modifications from business owners
impacted by the pandemic. The Residential Mortgage
Department alone processed 70 applications for
forbearance and payment deferrals. Both sides of
CNB’s balance sheet grew as PPP loans were booked,
funds flowed gradually from accounts over time, and
individuals deposited their stimulus checks. Customers
curtailed spending on activities such as “evenings out”
and vacations. Typical commercial loan demand
decreased considerably. Liquid funds swelled.

As a member of the Federal Home Loan Bank of
Chicago, CNB was able to receive a $20,000 grant from
the FHLBC for community assistance; the CNB board
decided to match those funds, donating $40,000 to the
various food banks that serve the seventeen
communities within our branch network. The FHLBC
also provided rate concessions on a special advance
program which helped CNB to fund community
assistance. We are especially proud of the generosity of
our board and employees who donated an additional
$27,000 near year-end to more than 150 local charities.

On the back cover of this Report you can see how
CNB is organized geographically into three regions.
This structure aids efficiency in managing our sales and
service efforts, as well as daily operations. Banking is
considered to be “essential service”; although lobby
traffic has been restricted for safety of customers and
employees alike, 24-hour banking is delivered through
online banking, mobile banking, telephone banking,
drive-ups, and ATMs. During the year, a cross-training
project transitioned CNB’s tellers and customer service
representatives to Universal Bankers, which will improve
the efficiency within our lobbies. Outside of the Bank,
community-wide projects in Region 1 included; an all-
weather sport field at Carlinville High School; a new
industrial park, and second phase of a hospital
modernization project in Taylorville; continued
development of downtown retail in Hillsboro, as well as
expansion of employment at the nearby Deer Run coal
mine, and remediation of the Eagle Zinc property; and
progress in Litchfield in development of the I-55
Commerce Center and the Eagle Ridge Subdivision at
Lake Lou Yeager. Naturally, the pandemic has affected
the pace of such projects, including the $500 million
Mid-American International Gateway Business Park in
Region 2. CNB is expanding its presence in that region

with the opening of a new branch in Edwardsville/Glen
Carbon. And although the pandemic caused major
contraction of directly affected businesses in urban and
suburban Cook County (our Region 3), CNB’s three
branches there continued their growth, primarily in
deposits and PPP loans.

CNB’s Residential Mortgage Department was
exceedingly busy throughout 2020, primarily due to the
steady decline in interest rates providing the catalyst
for refinance activity. As volume surged, the
Department was processing six times its normal
monthly application volume, all while courthouses were
closing and many appraisers chose to avoid entering
residences. In addition, department staff were helping
many existing customers with repayment plan options
that allowed them to cure delinquencies and avoid
foreclosure. Likewise, the Credit Services Department,
in addition to processing PPP volume, proactively
worked with more than 600 loan clients with
approximately $144 million in loans to offer needed
payment relief options.

CNB’s Trust/Wealth Management Group (WMG)
experienced significant growth in 2020. Bolstered by
the addition of nine members to our team of
professionals, WMG expanded not only our service
reach into Alton, Edwardsville, and Glen Carbon
markets, it also increased assets under management by
30% to nearly $340 million. With a combined 436+
years of experience among our WMG staff, the
department broadened its product array to include
retirement plan solutions and institutional services,
complimenting our community-based fiduciary,
investment, and farm management expertise.

Operations and Information Technology staff stayed
busy throughout the year, advancing numerous
projects. Several upgrades provide more efficiency and
ease of use to customers: account opening software;
online loan applications; improved money transfer
software; and e-signature software for remote
document signing. Other upgrades improve security
for certain transactions: customer control of debit card
access; business online soft tokens; ATM upgrades
including security alarms; and analytics software
protecting integrity of online transactions. A few of the
projects improve internal operations: better WiFi
access at all branches; an upgrade to our phone
banking module; and efforts to allow certain functions
to be performed and managed remotely. Still under
development are projects to: review the Bank’s core
software; upgrade our core Trust software; review the
company-wide phone system; begin offering
contactless debit cards; and facilitate communication
with remote meeting capabilities.

5CNB ANNUAL REPORT 2020



CNB ANNUAL REPORT 20206

CNB’sMarketing, Customer Relationship
Management, and Training personnel are also
increasing use of online and digital methods to
promote our account offerings and services. A website
upgrade was well received, evidenced by an increase in
activity from 7,800 users in January, to 20,900 in
December. Facebook fans also grew at a 24% rate
during the year. Part of the Bank’s philosophy is that we
can best differentiate CNB from our competition in this
highly regulated industry by effective training of staff,
and continually asking our customers how they feel we
can improve.

There is nothing like a crisis to help a bank focus on
Risk Management, which has some bearing on all
activities, but is the primary job description for several
of our officers and staff. Now qualifying for the FDIC
Improvement Act requirements for banks over
$1 billion in assets, CNB receives outside audit
certification on the adequacy of internal controls.
Regular reviews also assure compliance with rules and
regulations, including the ever-increasing risks
regarding cybersecurity. As loan demand has retracted
(other than for forgivable PPP loans), and deposits have
increased dramatically, CNB’s growing liquidity
position has allowed us to increase the
investment portfolio and take steps to
improve asset quality.

Naturally, the Human Resource Department has
been quite busy with the challenge to rapidly adapt to
changes in and outside the office. Policies and
procedures were modified to allow for greater
flexibility, communication of health and wellness
benefits, safety in the workplace, and management of
remote operations, all while adopting CDC guidelines
and CARES Act provisions.

CNB’s financial reports comparing 2019 with 2020
begin on page 12 with our Consolidated Balance
Sheets. Total deposits grew nearly $140 million, driving
a 12% increase in total assets. Were it not for PPP, loans
would have declined; therefore, the growth in assets
was deployed into the investment portfolio, which was
increased by more than $136 million. Note 4 on page
27 reveals that loan decline was in all categories except
for “Other Commercial”, which includes the PPP loans.
Total agricultural loans (which includes ag production
and farmland) went down 1.8%. Although real estate
construction and residential loans declined 16%, there
was a tremendous increase in residential loans sold into
the secondary market, which is evident in our
Statements of Cash Flows. Noninterest-bearing
deposits were up nearly 38%. Note 6 on page 34 shows
that depositors shifted from savings and time deposits
into interest-bearing transaction accounts which
increased 50%. As depositors choose to select more
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liquid account offerings in a low rate environment, it is
important that the Bank increases its liquidity, as well. The most
important statistic reflected on the balance sheets in the eyes
of our stockholders is that retained earnings grew by more than
12% during 2020.

The Consolidated Statements of Income on page 13 reports
net income of $14.7 million, up 8.7% from the prior year. While
net interest income increased 3.9%, strong provisions to the
loan loss reserve dropped net interest after those provisions, to
a 2.1% decline compared to the prior year. Total noninterest
expense was up more than $2 million, largely due to increased
occupancy and legal and professional fees, from developing
and staffing our new branch in Edwardsville/Glen Carbon. Yet,
noninterest income growth of more than $3.5 million eclipsed
the increase in overhead to produce the improvement in net
income. The most prominent line item under noninterest
income was mortgage banking revenues, swelled by the huge
refinance demand in a period of historically low interest rates.

The Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity on
page 15 displays the impact of net income and the typical
transaction activity related to our officers’ stock option
program. Also, it shows that dividends per share to
stockholders were up 9.8% from the prior year. Note 16
beginning on page 42 reveals that all regulatory measures of
our capital ratios remain above minimums for both capital
adequacy and to be considered well-capitalized.

In addition to the large increase in deposits and related
purchases of securities for our investment portfolio reported on
the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow on page 16, the
most significant change, as previously mentioned, was an
increase of 242% in mortgage loans originated for sale in the
secondary market. With long term interest rates beginning to
rise, this activity is expected to slow down considerably.

Last year’s Annual Report narrative concluded with
comments concerning several uncertainties heading into 2020.
With the benefit of hindsight, we now know the presidential
year election results; the impact of trade policies; and slowing
pace of bank consolidations. Still uncertain is the direction and
timing of mortgage finance reform; and duration of the Federal
Reserve’s accommodative monetary policy. Not listed last year
was the prospect of an historically debilitating global
pandemic, or resurgence of social unrest, both of which have
dominated our nation’s attention and remediation efforts.

Naturally, we all desire 2021 to be a year of recovery: for the
population’s health, for the businesses most severely impacted
by the pandemic, and for social well-being. The board,
management, and staff of CNB is determined to stay well
positioned to help our communities, through the safeguarding
of resources and the intermediation of financing needs.

– CNB Management
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TOTAL
DEPOSITS
AS OF DECEMBER 31

$1,261,153,646

2020
Non-Interest-bearing
transaction accounts..........................$255,957,068

Interest-bearing
transaction accounts..........................$304,824,165

Savings................................................$334,773,464

Time deposits ....................................$365,598,949

20.3%

26.5%
24.2%

29.0%

2019

TOTAL
DEPOSITS
AS OF DECEMBER 31

$1,121,168,096

Non-Interest-bearing
transaction accounts..........................$185,680,245

Interest-bearing
transaction accounts..........................$203,235,961

Savings................................................$288,669,279

Time deposits ....................................$443,582,607

18.1%

25.7%

16.6%

39.6%

20
20

20
19

$2
.2
5

$2
.0
8

$1
9.
64

$1
7.
35

Diluted Earnings Per
Common Share

Tangible Book Value
Per Share

TBV/E multiples for
year-end 2019 and 2020
were 8.34 and 8.73
respectively.
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PAYROLL PROTECTION
PROGRAM (PPP) LOANS

APPROVED IN 2020

946 $79,156,934=
TOTAL PPP DOLLARS APPROVED IN 2020

2020

TOTAL
LOANS

AS OF DECEMBER 31

$934,210,000

COMMERCIAL:
Real Estate............................. $307,378,779
Agricultural Production .......... $75,039,341
Other ..................................... $192,720,195

REAL ESTATE:
Construction............................ $35,598,497
Residential............................. $112,764,242
Farmland ............................... $187,526,119

Consumer................................ $23,182,827

COMMERCIAL:
Real Estate............................. $309,411,007
Agricultural Production .......... $93,070,885
Other ..................................... $149,154,369

REAL ESTATE:
Construction............................ $47,242,208
Residential............................. $129,650,232
Farmland ............................... $174,205,504

Consumer................................ $24,954,358

2019

TOTAL
LOANS

AS OF DECEMBER 31

$927,688,563

32.9%

20.6%

12.1%

8.0%

20.1%

2.5%

33.3%

10.0%

16.1%

14.0%

18.8%

3.8%

2.7%

5.1%



Independent Auditors' Report

Board of Directors and Stockholders
CNB Bank Shares, Inc.
Carlinville, Illinois

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of CNB Bank Shares,
Inc. and subsidiary which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2020,
and the related consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income, stockholders'
equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated
financial statements.  

Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated
financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on
our audit. We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in
the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditors' judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair
presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.

Page 1

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of CNB Bank Shares, Inc. and subsidiary as of
December 31, 2020, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Prior Period Financial Statements

The financial statements of CNB Bank Shares, Inc. as of December 31, 2019, were audited by
Cummings, Ristau & Associates, P.C. whose report dated February 13, 2020, expressed an
unmodified opinion on those statements. Cummings, Ristau & Associates, P.C. merged with
Anders Minkler Huber & Helm LLP effective July 1, 2020.

Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have also audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America, the CNB Bank Shares, Inc. and subsidiary's internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2020, based on criteria for effective internal control described in
Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission, and our report dated March 4, 2021 expressed an unqualified
opinion.

March 4, 2021

Page 2
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CNB BANK SHARES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 
 

Consolidated Balance Sheets 
 

December 31, 2020 and 2019 
 
 
 ASSETS 2020 2019 
 
Cash and due from banks (note 2) $ 23,241,492 28,191,882 
Interest-earning deposits in other financial institutions 93,622,195 73,488,913 
Investments in available-for-sale debt securities (note 3) 371,728,644 235,539,729 
Mortgage loans held for sale  2,939,799 3,283,145 
Loans (notes 4 and 9)   934,210,000 927,688,563 
 Less:  
  Deferred loan fees, net of related costs  (896,203) (859,575) 
  Unamortized discount on purchased loans   (739,364) 
  Reserve for possible loan losses   (10,658,789)   (11,655,035) 
    Net loans   922,655,008   914,434,589 
Bank premises and equipment, net (note 5) 19,170,423 18,468,608 
Accrued interest receivable  8,930,116 9,222,929 
Bank-owned life insurance policies (note 12) 12,755,038 12,636,452 
Identifiable intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization of  
 $1,169,504 and $3,392,228 at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively 5,148,027 4,871,203 
Goodwill  21,415,712 21,415,712 
Other assets (note 7)    12,013,696   12,414,283 
     $ 1,493,620,150 1,333,967,445 
 
 LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
 
Deposits (note 6): 
 Noninterest-bearing  $ 255,957,068 185,680,249 
 Interest-bearing   1,005,196,578   935,487,847 
    Total deposits 1,261,153,646 1,121,168,096 
Short-term borrowings (note 8)  36,589,362 28,621,537 
Accrued interest payable  856,860 2,496,247 
Federal Home Loan Bank borrowings (note 9) 22,250,000 22,333,509 
Notes payable (note 10)  5,643,309 6,550,000 
Other liabilities (note 12)   16,095,252   16,800,920 
    Total liabilities 1,342,588,429 1,197,970,309 
Commitments and contingencies (notes 13 and 15) 
Stockholders’ equity (notes 11, 14, and 16): 
 Preferred stock and related surplus, $0.01 par value; 200,000 shares  
  authorized, 9,745 shares issued and outstanding 19,352,310 19,352,310 
 Common stock, $0.05 par value; 20,000,000 shares authorized, 
  5,779,659 shares issued and 5,363,812 and 5,349,552 shares outstanding 

 at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively 288,983 288,983 
Surplus  19,223,115 19,481,484 

 Retained earnings  109,936,005 98,075,865 
 Treasury stock, at cost – 415,847 and 430,107 shares at December 31, 2020 
  and 2019, respectively  (6,890,147) (6,014,200) 
 Accumulated other comprehensive income    9,121,455   4,812,694 
    Total stockholders’ equity   151,031,721   135,997,136 
     $ 1,493,620,150 1,333,967,445 
 
 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 

 

CNB BANK SHARES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 
 

Consolidated Statements of Income 
 

Years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 
 
 

  2020 2019 
Interest income: 
 Interest and fees on loans (note 4) $ 49,200,831 51,137,055 
 Interest on debt securities: 
  Taxable  4,234,717 4,351,236 
  Exempt from federal income taxes 2,987,915 2,694,269 
 Interest on short-term investments  432,525  1,149,670 
    Total interest income 56,855,988 59,332,230 
Interest expense: 
 Interest on deposits (note 6)  9,405,918 13,321,756 
 Interest on short-term borrowings (note 8) 150,749 338,860 
 Interest on longer-term Federal Home Loan Bank borrowings (note 9) 448,333 458,731 
 Interest on notes payable (note 10)  254,125  348,721 
   Total interest expense    10,259,125 14,468,068 
   Net interest income  46,596,863 44,864,162 
Provision for possible loan losses (note 4)    4,740,139  2,091,095 
   Net interest income after provision 
   for possible loan losses   41,856,724 42,773,067 
Noninterest income: 
 Service charges on deposit accounts 1,667,195 1,982,008 
 Card-based revenue  1,951,809 1,352,252 
 Income from fiduciary activities 1,632,241 1,424,848 
 Mortgage banking revenues 4,896,648 1,833,128 
 Increase in cash surrender value of life insurance policies 230,509 216,868 
 Brokerage commissions 1,805,102 1,694,883 
 Other noninterest income (note 5)   1,704,511  1,825,922 
   Total noninterest income  13,888,015 10,329,909 
Noninterest expense: 
 Salaries and employee benefits (notes 11 and 12) 22,368,283 21,611,043 
 Occupancy and equipment expense (note 5) 5,844,970 5,235,665 
 Legal and professional fees 1,493,294 871,546 
 Postage, printing, and supplies 818,410 890,624 
 Amortization of intangible assets 1,106,798 930,970 
 Other real estate owned expense 20,886 168,655 
 Advertising expense  649,797 832,703 
 FDIC insurance assessments 647,693 424,073 
 Other noninterest expense   4,181,856  4,118,979 
   Total noninterest expense  37,131,987 35,084,258 
   Income before applicable income taxes 18,612,752 18,018,718 
Applicable income tax expense (note 7)   3,902,588  4,483,361 
   Net income   $ 14,710,164 13,535,357 
 
 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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CNB BANK SHARES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 
 

Consolidated Balance Sheets 
 

December 31, 2020 and 2019 
 
 
 ASSETS 2020 2019 
 
Cash and due from banks (note 2) $ 23,241,492 28,191,882 
Interest-earning deposits in other financial institutions 93,622,195 73,488,913 
Investments in available-for-sale debt securities (note 3) 371,728,644 235,539,729 
Mortgage loans held for sale  2,939,799 3,283,145 
Loans (notes 4 and 9)   934,210,000 927,688,563 
 Less:  
  Deferred loan fees, net of related costs  (896,203) (859,575) 
  Unamortized discount on purchased loans   (739,364) 
  Reserve for possible loan losses   (10,658,789)   (11,655,035) 
    Net loans   922,655,008   914,434,589 
Bank premises and equipment, net (note 5) 19,170,423 18,468,608 
Accrued interest receivable  8,930,116 9,222,929 
Bank-owned life insurance policies (note 12) 12,755,038 12,636,452 
Identifiable intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization of  
 $1,169,504 and $3,392,228 at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively 5,148,027 4,871,203 
Goodwill  21,415,712 21,415,712 
Other assets (note 7)    12,013,696   12,414,283 
     $ 1,493,620,150 1,333,967,445 
 
 LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
 
Deposits (note 6): 
 Noninterest-bearing  $ 255,957,068 185,680,249 
 Interest-bearing   1,005,196,578   935,487,847 
    Total deposits 1,261,153,646 1,121,168,096 
Short-term borrowings (note 8)  36,589,362 28,621,537 
Accrued interest payable  856,860 2,496,247 
Federal Home Loan Bank borrowings (note 9) 22,250,000 22,333,509 
Notes payable (note 10)  5,643,309 6,550,000 
Other liabilities (note 12)   16,095,252   16,800,920 
    Total liabilities 1,342,588,429 1,197,970,309 
Commitments and contingencies (notes 13 and 15) 
Stockholders’ equity (notes 11, 14, and 16): 
 Preferred stock and related surplus, $0.01 par value; 200,000 shares  
  authorized, 9,745 shares issued and outstanding 19,352,310 19,352,310 
 Common stock, $0.05 par value; 20,000,000 shares authorized, 
  5,779,659 shares issued and 5,363,812 and 5,349,552 shares outstanding 

 at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively 288,983 288,983 
Surplus  19,223,115 19,481,484 

 Retained earnings  109,936,005 98,075,865 
 Treasury stock, at cost – 415,847 and 430,107 shares at December 31, 2020 
  and 2019, respectively  (6,890,147) (6,014,200) 
 Accumulated other comprehensive income    9,121,455   4,812,694 
    Total stockholders’ equity   151,031,721   135,997,136 
     $ 1,493,620,150 1,333,967,445 
 
 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 

 

CNB BANK SHARES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 
 

Consolidated Statements of Income 
 

Years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 
 
 

  2020 2019 
Interest income: 
 Interest and fees on loans (note 4) $ 49,200,831 51,137,055 
 Interest on debt securities: 
  Taxable  4,234,717 4,351,236 
  Exempt from federal income taxes 2,987,915 2,694,269 
 Interest on short-term investments  432,525  1,149,670 
    Total interest income 56,855,988 59,332,230 
Interest expense: 
 Interest on deposits (note 6)  9,405,918 13,321,756 
 Interest on short-term borrowings (note 8) 150,749 338,860 
 Interest on longer-term Federal Home Loan Bank borrowings (note 9) 448,333 458,731 
 Interest on notes payable (note 10)  254,125  348,721 
   Total interest expense    10,259,125 14,468,068 
   Net interest income  46,596,863 44,864,162 
Provision for possible loan losses (note 4)    4,740,139  2,091,095 
   Net interest income after provision 
   for possible loan losses   41,856,724 42,773,067 
Noninterest income: 
 Service charges on deposit accounts 1,667,195 1,982,008 
 Card-based revenue  1,951,809 1,352,252 
 Income from fiduciary activities 1,632,241 1,424,848 
 Mortgage banking revenues 4,896,648 1,833,128 
 Increase in cash surrender value of life insurance policies 230,509 216,868 
 Brokerage commissions 1,805,102 1,694,883 
 Other noninterest income (note 5)   1,704,511  1,825,922 
   Total noninterest income  13,888,015 10,329,909 
Noninterest expense: 
 Salaries and employee benefits (notes 11 and 12) 22,368,283 21,611,043 
 Occupancy and equipment expense (note 5) 5,844,970 5,235,665 
 Legal and professional fees 1,493,294 871,546 
 Postage, printing, and supplies 818,410 890,624 
 Amortization of intangible assets 1,106,798 930,970 
 Other real estate owned expense 20,886 168,655 
 Advertising expense  649,797 832,703 
 FDIC insurance assessments 647,693 424,073 
 Other noninterest expense   4,181,856  4,118,979 
   Total noninterest expense  37,131,987 35,084,258 
   Income before applicable income taxes 18,612,752 18,018,718 
Applicable income tax expense (note 7)   3,902,588  4,483,361 
   Net income   $ 14,710,164 13,535,357 
 
 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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CNB BANK SHARES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 
 

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income 
 

Years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019  
 
 

  2020 2019 
 
Net income  $ 14,710,164 13,535,357 
 
Other comprehensive income before tax: 
 
 Market value adjustment for cash flow hedge  (175,781)  
 
 Net unrealized gains on available-for-sale debt securities  5,629,909  7,463,074 
 
   Other comprehensive income before tax  5,454,128 7,463,074 
 
Income tax related to items of other comprehensive income    1,145,367  1,567,246 
 
   Total other comprehensive income, net of tax  4,308,761  5,895,828 
 
   Total comprehensive income $ 19,018,925 19,431,185 
 
 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 

 

CNB BANK SHARES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 
 

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity 
 

Years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 
 
 
   Accumulated Total 
 Preferred  other stock- 
 stock and Common Retained Treasury comprehensive holders’ 
 related surplus  stock  Surplus earnings  stock   income (loss)   equity  

 
Balance at December 31, 2018 $ 19,352,310  288,983 19,499,123 87,128,813 (5,524,609) (1,083,134) 119,661,486 
 
Net income     13,535,357   13,535,357 
 
Compensation expense recorded for stock 
 options granted   44,401    44,401 
 
Cash dividends paid – $0.41 per share    (2,588,305)    (2,588,305) 
 
Purchase of 96,760 common shares for treasury     (2,022,284)  (2,022,284) 

 
Stock options exercised – 117,360 common 
 shares from treasury   (62,040)  1,532,693  1,470,653 
  
Unrealized net holding gains on  

 available-for-sale securities, net of related 
 tax effect                  5,895,828  5,895,828 

 
Balance at December 31, 2019  19,352,310  288,983 19,481,484 98,075,865 (6,014,200) 4,812,694 135,997,136 
 
Net income     14,710,164   14,710,164 
 
Compensation expense recorded for stock 
 options granted   32,002    32,002 
 
Cash dividends paid – $0.45 per share    (2,850,024)    (2,850,024) 
 
Purchase of 117,550 common shares for treasury     (2,879,395)  (2,879,395) 

 
Stock options exercised – 131,810 common 
 shares from treasury   (290,371)  2,003,448  1,713,077 
 
Unrealized net holding gains on  

 available-for-sale securities, net of related 
 tax effect                 4,447,628  4,447,628 
 
Market value adjustment for cash flow 

 hedge, net of related tax effect                  (138,867)  (138,867) 
 

Balance at December 31, 2020 $ 19,352,310  288,983 19,223,115 109,936,005 (6,890,147) 9,121,455 151,031,721 

 
 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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CNB BANK SHARES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 
 

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity 
 

Years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 
 
 
   Accumulated Total 
 Preferred  other stock- 
 stock and Common Retained Treasury comprehensive holders’ 
 related surplus  stock  Surplus earnings  stock   income (loss)   equity  

 
Balance at December 31, 2018 $ 19,352,310  288,983 19,499,123 87,128,813 (5,524,609) (1,083,134) 119,661,486 
 
Net income     13,535,357   13,535,357 
 
Compensation expense recorded for stock 
 options granted   44,401    44,401 
 
Cash dividends paid – $0.41 per share    (2,588,305)    (2,588,305) 
 
Purchase of 96,760 common shares for treasury     (2,022,284)  (2,022,284) 

 
Stock options exercised – 117,360 common 
 shares from treasury   (62,040)  1,532,693  1,470,653 
  
Unrealized net holding gains on  

 available-for-sale securities, net of related 
 tax effect                  5,895,828  5,895,828 

 
Balance at December 31, 2019  19,352,310  288,983 19,481,484 98,075,865 (6,014,200) 4,812,694 135,997,136 
 
Net income     14,710,164   14,710,164 
 
Compensation expense recorded for stock 
 options granted   32,002    32,002 
 
Cash dividends paid – $0.45 per share    (2,850,024)    (2,850,024) 
 
Purchase of 117,550 common shares for treasury     (2,879,395)  (2,879,395) 

 
Stock options exercised – 131,810 common 
 shares from treasury   (290,371)  2,003,448  1,713,077 
 
Unrealized net holding gains on  

 available-for-sale securities, net of related 
 tax effect                 4,447,628  4,447,628 
 
Market value adjustment for cash flow 

 hedge, net of related tax effect                  (138,867)  (138,867) 
 

Balance at December 31, 2020 $ 19,352,310  288,983 19,223,115 109,936,005 (6,890,147) 9,121,455 151,031,721 

 
 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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CNB BANK SHARES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 
 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
 

Years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 
 

  2020 2019 
Cash flows from operating activities: 
 Net income  $ 14,710,164 13,535,357 
 Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash  
  provided by operating activities: 
   Depreciation and amortization 5,340,960 2,530,002 
   Provision for possible loan losses 4,740,139 2,091,095 
   Net cash gains on sales of mortgage loans in secondary market (2,686,442) (640,057) 
   Capitalized mortgage servicing rights (1,383,622) (375,592) 
   Net gains and write-downs on sales of other real estate owned (58,490) (97,186) 
   Deferred income tax expense 683,032 20,446 
   Stock option expense 32,002 44,401 
   Decrease in accrued interest receivable 292,813 110,788 
   Increase (decrease) in accrued interest payable (1,639,387) 771,668 
   Mortgage loans originated for sale in secondary market (138,018,763) (40,400,345) 
   Proceeds from mortgage loans sold in secondary market 141,048,551 38,199,257 
   Increase in cash surrender value of life insurance policies, 
    net of mortality costs (230,509) (216,868) 
   Other operating activities, net  (2,341,414)  1,817,192 
    Net cash provided by operating activities  20,489,034  17,390,158 
Cash flows from investing activities: 
 Proceeds from calls and maturities of and principal 
  payments on available-for-sale debt securities 60,986,991 38,047,677 
 Purchases of available-for-sale debt securities (194,155,485) (52,626,080) 
 Redemption (purchase) of Federal Home Loan Bank stock (26,000) 338,618 
 Net decrease (increase) in loans (12,989,566) 14,956,680 
 Purchases of bank premises and equipment, net (2,326,906) (3,180,752) 
 Proceeds from sale of other real estate owned  143,670 1,270,895 
 Capitalized costs of additions to other real estate   (24,000) 
 Proceeds from redemption of life insurance contract  114,321  2,688 
    Net cash used in investing activities (148,252,975)  (1,214,274) 
Cash flows from financing activities: 
 Net increase in deposits 139,985,550 5,070,539 
 Net increase in short-term borrowings 7,967,825 3,592,366 
 Principal payments on notes payable (906,691) (996,925) 
 Proceeds from Federal Home Loan Bank borrowings 4,000,000 5,650,000 
 Payments of Federal Home Loan Bank borrowings (4,083,509) (4,982,560) 
 Stock options exercised 1,713,077 1,470,653 
 Purchase of treasury stock (2,879,395) (2,022,284) 
 Dividends paid   (2,850,024)  (2,588,305) 
    Net cash provided by financing activities 142,946,833  5,193,484 
    Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 15,182,892 21,369,368 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 101,680,795  80,311,427 
    Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 116,863,687 101,680,795 
 
 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 

 
CNB BANK SHARES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 

 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

 
December 31, 2020 and 2019 

 
 

NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
CNB Bank Shares, Inc. (the Company) provides a full range of banking services to individual and corporate 
customers throughout south-central Illinois, suburban southwestern Chicago, and the St. Louis metropolitan 
area, through its wholly owned subsidiary bank, CNB Bank & Trust, N.A. (the Bank).  The Company and 
Bank are subject to competition from other financial and nonfinancial institutions providing financial 
products throughout the Company’s market areas.  Additionally, the Company and Bank are subject to the 
regulations of certain federal and state agencies and undergo periodic examinations by those regulatory 
agencies.   
 
The accounting and reporting policies of the Company and Bank conform to generally accepted accounting 
principles within the financial services industry.  In compiling the consolidated financial statements, 
management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements, 
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Estimates that are particularly 
susceptible to change in a short period of time include the determination of the reserve for possible loan 
losses; valuation of other real estate owned and stock options; and determination of possible impairment of 
intangible assets.  Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 
Following is a description of the more significant of the Company’s accounting policies: 
 
Principles of Consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and Bank.  All significant 
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. 
 
Basis of Accounting 
The Company and Bank utilize the accrual basis of accounting, which includes in the total of net income all 
revenues earned and expenses incurred, regardless of when actual cash payments are received or paid.  The 
Company is also required to report comprehensive income, of which net income is a component.  
Comprehensive income is defined as the change in equity (net assets) of a business enterprise during a period 
from transactions and other events and circumstances from nonowner sources, including all changes in equity 
during a period, except those resulting from investments by, and distributions to, owners, and cumulative 
effects of any changes in accounting principles.  The components of accumulated other comprehensive 
income are as follows at December 31, 2020 and 2019: 
 

  2020 2019 
 

Net unrealized gains on available-for-sale securities $ 11,721,927 6,092,018 
Market value adjustment for cash flow hedge  (175,781)  
Deferred tax effect   (2,424,691) (1,279,324) 
     $  9,121,455 4,812,694 

 

Cash Flow Information 
For purposes of the consolidated statements of cash flows, cash equivalents include cash and due from banks 
and interest-earning deposits in other financial institutions (all of which are payable upon demand).  Certain 
balances maintained in other financial institutions generally exceed the level of deposits insured by the 
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC).  Following is certain supplemental information relating to the 
Company’s consolidated statements of cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019: 
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CNB BANK SHARES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 
 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
 

Years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 
 

  2020 2019 
Cash flows from operating activities: 
 Net income  $ 14,710,164 13,535,357 
 Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash  
  provided by operating activities: 
   Depreciation and amortization 5,340,960 2,530,002 
   Provision for possible loan losses 4,740,139 2,091,095 
   Net cash gains on sales of mortgage loans in secondary market (2,686,442) (640,057) 
   Capitalized mortgage servicing rights (1,383,622) (375,592) 
   Net gains and write-downs on sales of other real estate owned (58,490) (97,186) 
   Deferred income tax expense 683,032 20,446 
   Stock option expense 32,002 44,401 
   Decrease in accrued interest receivable 292,813 110,788 
   Increase (decrease) in accrued interest payable (1,639,387) 771,668 
   Mortgage loans originated for sale in secondary market (138,018,763) (40,400,345) 
   Proceeds from mortgage loans sold in secondary market 141,048,551 38,199,257 
   Increase in cash surrender value of life insurance policies, 
    net of mortality costs (230,509) (216,868) 
   Other operating activities, net  (2,341,414)  1,817,192 
    Net cash provided by operating activities  20,489,034  17,390,158 
Cash flows from investing activities: 
 Proceeds from calls and maturities of and principal 
  payments on available-for-sale debt securities 60,986,991 38,047,677 
 Purchases of available-for-sale debt securities (194,155,485) (52,626,080) 
 Redemption (purchase) of Federal Home Loan Bank stock (26,000) 338,618 
 Net decrease (increase) in loans (12,989,566) 14,956,680 
 Purchases of bank premises and equipment, net (2,326,906) (3,180,752) 
 Proceeds from sale of other real estate owned  143,670 1,270,895 
 Capitalized costs of additions to other real estate   (24,000) 
 Proceeds from redemption of life insurance contract  114,321  2,688 
    Net cash used in investing activities (148,252,975)  (1,214,274) 
Cash flows from financing activities: 
 Net increase in deposits 139,985,550 5,070,539 
 Net increase in short-term borrowings 7,967,825 3,592,366 
 Principal payments on notes payable (906,691) (996,925) 
 Proceeds from Federal Home Loan Bank borrowings 4,000,000 5,650,000 
 Payments of Federal Home Loan Bank borrowings (4,083,509) (4,982,560) 
 Stock options exercised 1,713,077 1,470,653 
 Purchase of treasury stock (2,879,395) (2,022,284) 
 Dividends paid   (2,850,024)  (2,588,305) 
    Net cash provided by financing activities 142,946,833  5,193,484 
    Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 15,182,892 21,369,368 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 101,680,795  80,311,427 
    Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 116,863,687 101,680,795 
 
 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 

 
CNB BANK SHARES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 

 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

 
December 31, 2020 and 2019 

 
 

NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
CNB Bank Shares, Inc. (the Company) provides a full range of banking services to individual and corporate 
customers throughout south-central Illinois, suburban southwestern Chicago, and the St. Louis metropolitan 
area, through its wholly owned subsidiary bank, CNB Bank & Trust, N.A. (the Bank).  The Company and 
Bank are subject to competition from other financial and nonfinancial institutions providing financial 
products throughout the Company’s market areas.  Additionally, the Company and Bank are subject to the 
regulations of certain federal and state agencies and undergo periodic examinations by those regulatory 
agencies.   
 
The accounting and reporting policies of the Company and Bank conform to generally accepted accounting 
principles within the financial services industry.  In compiling the consolidated financial statements, 
management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements, 
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Estimates that are particularly 
susceptible to change in a short period of time include the determination of the reserve for possible loan 
losses; valuation of other real estate owned and stock options; and determination of possible impairment of 
intangible assets.  Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 
Following is a description of the more significant of the Company’s accounting policies: 
 
Principles of Consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and Bank.  All significant 
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. 
 
Basis of Accounting 
The Company and Bank utilize the accrual basis of accounting, which includes in the total of net income all 
revenues earned and expenses incurred, regardless of when actual cash payments are received or paid.  The 
Company is also required to report comprehensive income, of which net income is a component.  
Comprehensive income is defined as the change in equity (net assets) of a business enterprise during a period 
from transactions and other events and circumstances from nonowner sources, including all changes in equity 
during a period, except those resulting from investments by, and distributions to, owners, and cumulative 
effects of any changes in accounting principles.  The components of accumulated other comprehensive 
income are as follows at December 31, 2020 and 2019: 
 

  2020 2019 
 

Net unrealized gains on available-for-sale securities $ 11,721,927 6,092,018 
Market value adjustment for cash flow hedge  (175,781)  
Deferred tax effect   (2,424,691) (1,279,324) 
     $  9,121,455 4,812,694 

 

Cash Flow Information 
For purposes of the consolidated statements of cash flows, cash equivalents include cash and due from banks 
and interest-earning deposits in other financial institutions (all of which are payable upon demand).  Certain 
balances maintained in other financial institutions generally exceed the level of deposits insured by the 
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC).  Following is certain supplemental information relating to the 
Company’s consolidated statements of cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019: 
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CNB BANK SHARES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 

 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

 
 

  

  2020 2019 
 Cash paid for: 
  Interest  $ 11,898,512 13,696,400 
  Income taxes  4,555,000 3,969,000 
 Noncash transactions: 
  Transfers to other real estate owned in settlement of loans 85,480 677,745 
  Transfer from bank premises to other real estate owned  367,021 
  Loans made to facilitate the sale of other real estate owned  56,472  46,756 

 
Investments in Debt Securities 
The Company classifies its debt securities into one of three categories at the time of purchase:  trading, 
available-for-sale, or held-to-maturity.  Trading securities would be bought and held principally for the 
purpose of selling them in the near term.  Held-to-maturity securities are those securities which the Company 
has the ability and intent to hold until maturity.  All other debt securities not included in trading or held-to-
maturity are classified as available-for-sale. 
 
Trading and available-for-sale securities are recorded at fair value.  Held-to-maturity securities (for which no 
securities were so designated at December 31, 2020 and 2019) would be recorded at amortized cost, adjusted 
for the amortization of premiums or accretion of discounts.  Holding gains and losses on trading securities 
(for which no securities were so designated at December 31, 2020 and 2019) would be included in earnings.  
Unrealized holding gains and losses, net of the related tax effect, on available-for-sale securities are excluded 
from earnings and reported as a component of other comprehensive income in stockholders’ equity until 
realized.  Transfers of securities between categories would be recorded at fair value at the date of transfer.  
Unrealized holding gains and losses would be recognized in earnings for any transfers into the trading 
category.   
 
Mortgage-backed securities represent participating interests in pools of long-term first mortgage loans 
originated and serviced by the issuers of the securities.  Amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts 
for mortgage-backed securities are recognized as interest income using the interest method, which considers 
the timing and amount of prepayments of the underlying mortgages in estimating future cash flows for 
individual mortgage-backed securities.  For other debt securities, premiums and discounts are amortized or 
accreted over the lives of the respective securities, with consideration of historical and estimated prepayment 
rates, as an adjustment to yield using the interest method.  Dividend and interest income is recognized when 
earned.  Realized gains and losses from the sale of any securities classified as available-for-sale are included 
in earnings and are derived using the specific identification method for determining the cost of securities sold. 
 
Declines in the fair value of debt securities below their cost that are deemed to be other-than-temporary are 
reflected in operations as realized losses.  In estimating other-than-temporary impairment losses, management 
systematically evaluates investment securities for other-than-temporary declines in fair value on a quarterly 
basis.  The analysis requires management to consider various factors, which include the present value of the 
cash flows expected to be collected compared to the amortized cost of the security, the duration and magnitude 
of the decline in value, the financial condition of the issuer or issuers, the structure of the security, and the 
intent to sell the security or whether it is more likely than not that the Company would be required to sell the 
security before its anticipated recovery in market value. 
 
Loans 
Interest on loans is credited to income based on the principal amount outstanding.  Loans are considered 
delinquent whenever interest and/or principal payments have not been received when due.  The recognition 
of interest income is generally discontinued when a loan becomes 90 days delinquent or when, in 
management’s judgment, the interest is not collectible in the normal course of business.  Subsequent payments 
received on such loans are applied to principal if any doubt exists as to the collectibility of such principal; 
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otherwise, such receipts are recorded as interest income.  Loans are returned to accrual status when 
management believes full collectibility of principal and interest is expected.  The Bank considers a loan 
impaired when all amounts due, both principal and interest, will not be collected in accordance with the 
contractual terms of the loan agreement.  Factors considered by management in determining impairment 
include payment status, collateral value, and the probability of collecting scheduled principal and interest 
payments when due.  Loans that experience insignificant payment delays and payment shortfalls generally 
are not classified as impaired.  Management determines the significance of payment delays and payment 
shortfalls on a case-by-case basis, taking into consideration all of the circumstances surrounding the loan and 
the borrower, including the length of the delay, the reasons for the delay, the borrower’s prior payment record, 
and the amount of the shortfall in relation to the principal and interest owed.  When measuring impairment 
for such loans, the expected future cash flows of an impaired loan are discounted at the loan’s effective interest 
rate.  Alternatively, impairment is measured by reference to an observable market price, if one exists, or the 
fair value of the collateral for a collateral-dependent loan; however, the Company measures impairment based 
on the fair value of the collateral, using observable market prices, if foreclosure is probable. 
 
Loan origination fees and certain direct loan origination costs are deferred and recognized as an adjustment 
to interest income over the lives of the related loans using the interest method.  For loans originated under the 
Small Business Administration’s (SBA) Paycheck Protection Program (PPP), origination fees, net of direct 
origination costs, are deferred and accreted into interest income over the lives of the PPP loans using the 
interest method. 
 
The reserve for possible loan losses is available to absorb loan charge-offs.  The reserve is increased by 
provisions charged to operations and is reduced by loan charge-offs less recoveries.  Loans are partially or 
fully charged off when Bank management believes such amounts are uncollectible, either through collateral 
liquidation or cash payment.  Management utilizes a systematic, documented approach in determining the 
appropriate level of the reserve for possible loan losses.  The level of the reserve reflects management’s 
continuing evaluation of industry concentrations; specific credit risks; loan loss experience; current loan 
portfolio quality; present economic, political, and regulatory conditions; and probable losses inherent in the 
current loan portfolio.  The determination of the appropriate level of the reserve for possible loan losses 
inherently involves a degree of subjectivity and requires the Bank to make significant estimates of current 
credit risks and future trends, all of which may undergo material changes.  Changes in economic conditions 
affecting borrowers, new information regarding existing loans, identification of additional problem loans, and 
other factors, both within and outside of the Bank’s control, may require an increase in the reserve for possible 
loan losses. 
 
Management believes the reserve for possible loan losses is adequate to absorb losses in the loan portfolio.  
While management uses available information to recognize losses on loans, future additions to the reserve 
may be necessary based on changes in economic conditions.  Additionally, various regulatory agencies, as an 
integral part of the examination process, periodically review the Bank’s reserve for possible loan losses.  Such 
agencies may require the Bank to add to the reserve for possible loan losses based on their judgments and 
interpretations about information available to them at the time of their examinations. 
 
Loans Acquired Through Transfer 
Loans acquired through the completion of a transfer, including loans acquired in a business combination, that 
have evidence of deterioration of credit quality since origination and for which it is probable, at acquisition, 
that the Company will be unable to collect all contractually required payments receivable are initially recorded 
at fair value (as determined by the present value of expected future cash flows) with no valuation allowance.  
The difference between the undiscounted cash flows expected at acquisition and the investment in the loans, 
or the “accretable yield,” is recognized as interest income using a model which approximates a level-yield 
method over the life of the loans.  Contractually required payments for interest and principal that exceed the 
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Loans Acquired Through Transfer 
Loans acquired through the completion of a transfer, including loans acquired in a business combination, that 
have evidence of deterioration of credit quality since origination and for which it is probable, at acquisition, 
that the Company will be unable to collect all contractually required payments receivable are initially recorded 
at fair value (as determined by the present value of expected future cash flows) with no valuation allowance.  
The difference between the undiscounted cash flows expected at acquisition and the investment in the loans, 
or the “accretable yield,” is recognized as interest income using a model which approximates a level-yield 
method over the life of the loans.  Contractually required payments for interest and principal that exceed the 
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undiscounted cash flows expected at acquisition, or the “nonaccretable difference,” are not recognized as a 
yield adjustment or as a loss accrual or a valuation allowance.  Decreases in expected cash flows due to an 
inability to collect contractual cash flows are recognized as impairment through the provision for loan losses 
account.  Any reserve for loan losses on these loans reflects only losses incurred after the acquisition (meaning 
the present value of all cash flows expected at acquisition that ultimately are not to be received).  Any 
disposals of loans, including sales of loans, payments in full, or foreclosures, result in the removal of the loan 
from the loan pool at the carrying amount, with differences in actual results reflected in interest income.  
Following is a summary of activity in the unamortized discount on purchased loans from the Company’s 2018 
acquisition of Jacksonville Bancorp, Inc. for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019: 
 

Balance of purchase discount on loans at December 31, 2018 $ 1,830,680 
Accretable yield for 2019 recorded as interest income  (1,091,316) 
Balance of purchase discount on loans at December 31, 2019  739,364 
Accretable yield for 2020 recorded as interest income   (739,364) 
Balance of purchase discount on loans at December 31, 2020 $    

 
Bank Premises and Equipment 
Bank premises and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization.  
Depreciation and amortization of premises and equipment is computed over the expected lives of the assets 
or related lease term for leasehold improvements using the straight-line method.  Estimated useful lives are 
generally 39 years for premises and 3 to 15 years for building and leasehold improvements, furniture, fixtures, 
and equipment.  Expenditures for major renewals and improvements of bank premises and equipment are 
capitalized (including related interest costs), and those for maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred. 
 
Bank premises and equipment and other long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverable.  In such 
situations, recoverability of assets to be held and used would be measured by a comparison of the carrying 
amount of the assets to future net cash flows expected to be generated by the assets.  If such assets were 
considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized would be measured by the amount by which the 
carrying amount of the assets exceeded the fair value of the assets, using observable market prices.  Assets to 
be disposed are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value, less estimated selling costs.   
 
Other Real Estate Owned 
Other real estate owned represents property acquired through foreclosure, or deeded to the Bank in lieu of 
foreclosure, for loans on which the borrowers have defaulted as to payment of principal and interest.  
Properties acquired are initially recorded at the lower of the Bank’s carrying amount or fair value using 
observable market prices (less estimated selling costs), and carried in other assets in the consolidated balance 
sheets.  Other real estate owned (all of which was residential real estate properties) at December 31, 2020 and 
2019 totaled $63,828 and $120,000, respectively.  Valuations are periodically performed by management, 
and an allowance for losses is established by means of a charge to noninterest expense if the carrying value 
of a property exceeds its fair value, less estimated selling costs.  Subsequent increases in the fair value less 
estimated selling costs are recorded through a reversal of the allowance, but not below zero.  Costs related to 
development and improvements of property are capitalized, while costs relating to holding the property are 
expensed.  The Bank had $539,000 and $131,000 of residential real estate loans in process of foreclosure at 
December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.  
 
Intangible Assets and Goodwill 
Identifiable intangible assets include the mortgage servicing rights described below under “Mortgage Banking 
Operations” and core deposit premiums relating to the Company’s various bank acquisitions, which are being 
amortized into noninterest expense on straight-line and accelerated bases over periods ranging from 10 to 15 
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years.  Amortization of the core deposit intangible assets existing at December 31, 2020 will be $467,784 in 
2021, $467,784 in 2022, $467,784 in 2023, $467,784 in 2024, $467,784 in 2025, and $1,169,460 thereafter. 
 
The excess of the Company’s consideration given in each subsidiary acquisition transaction over the fair 
value of the net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill, an intangible asset on the consolidated balance sheets.  
Goodwill is the Company’s only intangible asset with an indefinite useful life, and the Company is required 
to test the intangible asset for impairment on an annual basis.  Impairment is measured as the excess of 
carrying value over the fair value of an intangible asset with an indefinite life.  No impairment write-downs 
were required in 2020 or 2019. 
 
Federal Home Loan Bank and Federal Reserve Bank Stock 
Included in other assets are the Bank’s investments in the common stock of the Federal Home Loan Bank of 
Chicago, which is administered by the Federal Housing Finance Board, and Federal Reserve Bank stock.  As 
member of the Federal Home Loan Bank system, the Bank is required to maintain a minimum investment in 
the capital stock of the Federal Home Loan Bank of Chicago.  National banks are also required to maintain 
stock in the Federal Reserve Bank.  The Federal Home Loan Bank and Federal Reserve Bank stock is recorded 
at cost, which represents redemption value.  At December 31, 2020 and 2019, the carrying amount of this 
investment was $2,045,250 and $2,019,250, respectively. 
 
Securities Sold Under Repurchase Agreements 
The Bank enters into sales of securities under agreements to repurchase at specified future dates.  Such 
repurchase agreements are considered financing arrangements and, accordingly, the obligation to repurchase 
assets sold is reflected as a liability in the consolidated balance sheets.  Repurchase agreements are 
collateralized by debt securities which are under the control of the Bank. 
 
Reserve for Unfunded Commitments 
A reserve for unfunded commitments is maintained at a level believed by management to be sufficient to 
absorb estimated probable losses related to unfunded credit facilities (including unfunded loan commitments 
and letters of credit) and is included in other liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets.  The determination 
of the appropriate level of the reserve is based upon an evaluation of the unfunded credit facilities, including 
an assessment of historical commitment utilization experience and credit risk grading.  Net adjustments to the 
reserve for unfunded commitments are included in other noninterest expense in the consolidated statements 
of income. 
 
Income Taxes 
The Company and Bank file consolidated federal and state income tax returns.  Applicable income taxes are 
computed based on reported income and expenses, adjusted for permanent differences between reported and 
taxable income.  Penalties and interest assessed by income taxing authorities are included in income tax 
expense in the year assessed, unless such amounts relate to an uncertain tax position.  The Company had no 
uncertain tax positions at December 31, 2020 and 2019. 
 
The Company uses the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes, in which deferred tax assets 
and liabilities are recognized for the estimated future tax consequences attributable to differences between 
the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases.  
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which those 
temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled.  The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities 
of a change in tax rates is recognized in the period which includes the enactment date.   
 
The Company has not had its consolidated federal income tax returns examined by the taxing authorities for 
several years, while the State of Illinois has recently completed an examination of the Company’s 2017, 2016, 



21CNB ANNUAL REPORT 2020

 
CNB BANK SHARES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 

 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

 
 

  

years.  Amortization of the core deposit intangible assets existing at December 31, 2020 will be $467,784 in 
2021, $467,784 in 2022, $467,784 in 2023, $467,784 in 2024, $467,784 in 2025, and $1,169,460 thereafter. 
 
The excess of the Company’s consideration given in each subsidiary acquisition transaction over the fair 
value of the net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill, an intangible asset on the consolidated balance sheets.  
Goodwill is the Company’s only intangible asset with an indefinite useful life, and the Company is required 
to test the intangible asset for impairment on an annual basis.  Impairment is measured as the excess of 
carrying value over the fair value of an intangible asset with an indefinite life.  No impairment write-downs 
were required in 2020 or 2019. 
 
Federal Home Loan Bank and Federal Reserve Bank Stock 
Included in other assets are the Bank’s investments in the common stock of the Federal Home Loan Bank of 
Chicago, which is administered by the Federal Housing Finance Board, and Federal Reserve Bank stock.  As 
member of the Federal Home Loan Bank system, the Bank is required to maintain a minimum investment in 
the capital stock of the Federal Home Loan Bank of Chicago.  National banks are also required to maintain 
stock in the Federal Reserve Bank.  The Federal Home Loan Bank and Federal Reserve Bank stock is recorded 
at cost, which represents redemption value.  At December 31, 2020 and 2019, the carrying amount of this 
investment was $2,045,250 and $2,019,250, respectively. 
 
Securities Sold Under Repurchase Agreements 
The Bank enters into sales of securities under agreements to repurchase at specified future dates.  Such 
repurchase agreements are considered financing arrangements and, accordingly, the obligation to repurchase 
assets sold is reflected as a liability in the consolidated balance sheets.  Repurchase agreements are 
collateralized by debt securities which are under the control of the Bank. 
 
Reserve for Unfunded Commitments 
A reserve for unfunded commitments is maintained at a level believed by management to be sufficient to 
absorb estimated probable losses related to unfunded credit facilities (including unfunded loan commitments 
and letters of credit) and is included in other liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets.  The determination 
of the appropriate level of the reserve is based upon an evaluation of the unfunded credit facilities, including 
an assessment of historical commitment utilization experience and credit risk grading.  Net adjustments to the 
reserve for unfunded commitments are included in other noninterest expense in the consolidated statements 
of income. 
 
Income Taxes 
The Company and Bank file consolidated federal and state income tax returns.  Applicable income taxes are 
computed based on reported income and expenses, adjusted for permanent differences between reported and 
taxable income.  Penalties and interest assessed by income taxing authorities are included in income tax 
expense in the year assessed, unless such amounts relate to an uncertain tax position.  The Company had no 
uncertain tax positions at December 31, 2020 and 2019. 
 
The Company uses the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes, in which deferred tax assets 
and liabilities are recognized for the estimated future tax consequences attributable to differences between 
the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases.  
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which those 
temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled.  The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities 
of a change in tax rates is recognized in the period which includes the enactment date.   
 
The Company has not had its consolidated federal income tax returns examined by the taxing authorities for 
several years, while the State of Illinois has recently completed an examination of the Company’s 2017, 2016, 



CNB ANNUAL REPORT 202022

 
CNB BANK SHARES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 

 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

 
 

  

and 2015 state income tax returns.  The Company’s consolidated federal and state income tax returns are 
generally subject to examination by the Internal Revenue Service and State of Illinois for three years after 
they are filed.  No material adjustments were forthcoming from the State of Illinois’ recent examination. 
 
Mortgage Banking Operations 
The Bank’s mortgage banking operations include the origination of long-term, fixed-rate residential mortgage 
loans for sale in the secondary market.  Upon receipt of an application for a residential real estate loan, the 
Bank generally locks in an interest rate with the applicable investor and, at the same time, locks into an interest 
rate with the customer.  This practice minimizes the exposure to risk resulting from interest rate fluctuations.  
Upon disbursement of the loan proceeds to the customer, the loan is delivered to the applicable investor.  
Sales proceeds are generally received shortly thereafter.  Therefore, no loans held for sale are included in the 
Bank’s loan portfolio at any point in time, except those loans for which the sale proceeds have not yet been 
received.  Such loans are maintained at the lower of cost or fair value, based on the outstanding commitment 
from the applicable investors for such loans. 
 
Loan origination fees are recognized upon the sale of the related loans and included in the consolidated 
statements of income as noninterest income from mortgage banking operations.  Additionally, loan 
administration fees, representing income earned from servicing certain loans sold in the secondary market, 
are calculated on the outstanding principal balances of the loans serviced and recorded as noninterest income 
as earned. 
 
For certain loans sold in the secondary market, the Bank retains the rights to service such loans.  Accordingly, 
the Bank has recognized as separate assets the rights to service mortgage loans for others at the origination 
date of the loan.  These capitalized mortgage servicing rights are included as identifiable intangible assets in 
the consolidated financial statements and are reviewed on a quarterly basis for impairment, based on the 
estimated fair value of those rights.  The value of mortgage servicing rights is determined based on the present 
value of estimated future cash flows, using assumptions as to a current market discount rate, prepayment 
speeds, and servicing costs per loan.  Mortgage servicing rights are amortized in proportion to, and over the 
period of, estimated net servicing income. 
 
At December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Bank serviced loans totaling $337,746,673 and $321,058,004, 
respectively, and the net unamortized balances of mortgage servicing rights were $1,639,647 and $895,039, 
respectively.  No valuation reserve was required on the mortgage servicing rights at December 31, 2020 and 
2019, as Company management believes that the 0.49% and 0.28% of total serviced loans represented by the 
mortgage servicing rights at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, are less than the amount for which 
such servicing rights could be sold. 
 
Financial Instruments 
For purposes of information included in note 15 regarding disclosures about financial instruments, financial 
instruments are defined as cash, evidence of an ownership interest in an entity, or a contract that both 
(a) imposes on one entity a contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial instrument to a second 
entity or to exchange other financial instruments on potentially unfavorable terms with the second entity, and 
(b) conveys to that second entity a contractual right to receive cash or another financial instrument from the 
first entity or to exchange other financial instruments on potentially favorable terms with the first entity. 
 
Stock Options 
Compensation costs relating to share-based payment transactions are recognized in the Company’s 
consolidated financial statements over the period of service to which such compensation relates (generally 
the vesting period), and are measured based on the fair value of the equity or liability instruments issued.  The 
grant date values of employee share options are estimated using option-pricing models adjusted for the unique 
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characteristics of those instruments.  If an equity award is modified after the grant date, incremental 
compensation cost would be recognized in an amount equal to the excess of the fair value of the modified 
award over the fair value of the original award immediately before the modification.  
 
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities 
The Company uses derivative instruments to assist in the management of interest rate sensitivity and to 
modify the repricing, maturity, and option characteristics of certain assets and liabilities.  The only derivative 
instruments used by the Company are interest rate swaps.  Derivative instruments are required to be measured 
at fair value and recognized as either assets or liabilities in the consolidated financial statements.  Fair value 
represents the payment the Company would receive or pay if the item were sold or bought in a current 
transaction.  Fair values are generally based on market quotes.  The accounting for changes in fair value (gains 
or losses) of a hedged item is dependent on whether the related derivative is designated and qualifies for 
“hedge accounting.”  The Company assigns derivatives to one of three categories at the purchase date:  fair 
value hedge, cash flow hedge, or nondesignated derivatives, and makes an assessment of the expected and 
ongoing hedge effectiveness of any derivative designated as a fair value hedge or cash flow hedge.  
Derivatives are included in other assets and other liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. 
 
The following is a summary of the Company’s accounting policies for derivative financial instruments and 
hedging activities: 
 
Fair Value Hedges 
For derivatives designated as fair value hedges, the fair value of the derivative instrument and related hedged 
item would be recognized through the related interest income or expense, as applicable, except for the 
ineffective portion, which would be recorded in noninterest income or expense.  All changes in fair value 
would be measured on a monthly basis.  The swap agreement would be accounted for on an accrual basis, 
with the net interest differential being recognized as an adjustment to interest income or interest expense of 
the related asset or liability.  The Company had no fair value hedge instruments at December 31, 2020 or 
2019. 
 
Cash Flow Hedges 
Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges are accounted for at fair value.  The effective portion of the change 
in fair value is recorded as a component of other comprehensive income (loss) in stockholders’ equity.  
Amounts recorded in other comprehensive income (loss) are subsequently reclassified into interest income or 
expense when the underlying transaction affects earnings.  The ineffective portion of the change in fair value 
is recorded in noninterest income or expense.  The swap agreements are accounted for on an accrual basis, 
with the net interest differential being recognized as an adjustment to interest income or interest expense of 
the related asset or liability.  The Company classified all interest rate swaps at December 31, 2020 as fair 
value hedges.  The Company had no cash flow hedge instruments at December 31, 2019. 
 
Nondesignated Derivatives 
Certain economic hedges are not designated as cash flow or fair value hedges for accounting purposes.  These 
nondesignated derivatives do not meet the criteria for hedge accounting treatment.  Changes in the fair value 
of these instruments would be recorded in interest income or expense at the end of each reporting period.  The 
Company had no nondesignated derivatives at December 31, 2020 or 2019. 
 
Fair Value Measurements 
The Company uses fair value measurements to determine fair value disclosures.  Fair value is the price that 
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date.  In determining fair value, the Company uses various methods, including 
market, income, and cost approaches.  Based on these approaches, the Company often utilizes certain 
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2019. 
 
Cash Flow Hedges 
Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges are accounted for at fair value.  The effective portion of the change 
in fair value is recorded as a component of other comprehensive income (loss) in stockholders’ equity.  
Amounts recorded in other comprehensive income (loss) are subsequently reclassified into interest income or 
expense when the underlying transaction affects earnings.  The ineffective portion of the change in fair value 
is recorded in noninterest income or expense.  The swap agreements are accounted for on an accrual basis, 
with the net interest differential being recognized as an adjustment to interest income or interest expense of 
the related asset or liability.  The Company classified all interest rate swaps at December 31, 2020 as fair 
value hedges.  The Company had no cash flow hedge instruments at December 31, 2019. 
 
Nondesignated Derivatives 
Certain economic hedges are not designated as cash flow or fair value hedges for accounting purposes.  These 
nondesignated derivatives do not meet the criteria for hedge accounting treatment.  Changes in the fair value 
of these instruments would be recorded in interest income or expense at the end of each reporting period.  The 
Company had no nondesignated derivatives at December 31, 2020 or 2019. 
 
Fair Value Measurements 
The Company uses fair value measurements to determine fair value disclosures.  Fair value is the price that 
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date.  In determining fair value, the Company uses various methods, including 
market, income, and cost approaches.  Based on these approaches, the Company often utilizes certain 
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assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability, including assumptions about 
risk and/or the risks inherent in the inputs to the valuation technique.  These inputs can be readily observable, 
market corroborated, or generally unobservable inputs.  The Company utilizes valuation techniques that 
maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs.  Based on the 
observability of the inputs used in the valuation techniques, the Company is required to provide the following 
information according to the fair value hierarchy.  Financial assets and liabilities carried or reported at fair 
value will be classified and disclosed in one of the following three categories: 
 
 ▪ Level 1 – Valuations for assets and liabilities traded in active exchange markets, such as the New York 

Stock Exchange.  Level 1 also includes U.S. Treasury and federal agency securities and federal agency 
mortgage-backed securities, which are traded by dealers or brokers in active markets.  Valuations are 
obtained from readily available pricing sources for market transactions involving identical assets or 
liabilities. 

 

 ▪ Level 2 – Valuations for assets and liabilities traded in less active dealer or broker markets.  Valuations 
are obtained from third-party pricing services for identical or similar assets or liabilities. 

 

 ▪ Level 3 – Valuations for assets and liabilities that are derived from other valuation methodologies, 
including option pricing models, discounted cash flow models and similar techniques, and not based on 
market exchange, dealer, or value assigned to such assets or liabilities. 

 
While certain assets and liabilities may be recorded at the lower of cost or fair value as described above on a 
nonrecurring basis (e.g., impaired loans, loans held for sale, other real estate owned), the only assets or 
liabilities recorded at fair value on a recurring basis are the Company’s investments in available-for-sale debt 
securities and derivative instruments.  No other assets and liabilities are recorded at fair value on a recurring 
or nonrecurring basis.  The derivative instruments are valued using Level 1 valuation inputs.  The Company’s 
available-for-sale debt securities are measured at fair value using Level 2 valuation inputs.  For the securities 
valued using Level 2 inputs, the market valuation utilizes several sources which include observable inputs 
rather than “significant unobservable inputs” and, therefore, fall into the Level 2 category, and are based on 
dealer quotes, market spreads, the U.S. Treasury yield curve, trade execution data, market consensus, 
prepayment speeds, credit information, and the bonds’ terms and conditions at the security level. 

 
The following tables summarize the Company’s assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring 
basis as of December 31, 2020 and 2019: 
 

  December 31, 2020  
 Quoted prices Significant 
 in active other Significant 
 markets for observable unobservable Total 
 identical assets inputs inputs fair 

   (Level 1)   (Level 2)   (Level 3)   value  
Assets: 

Investments in available-for-sale 
 debt securities: 
 Obligations of U.S. government 
  agencies and corporations $  13,141,239  13,141,239 
 Obligations of states and  
  political subdivisions  163,155,866  163,155,866 
 Mortgage-backed securities    195,431,539    195,431,539 
   Total available-for-sale 
    debt securities    371,728,644    371,728,644 

 

Liabilities – derivative financial 
 instruments $ 175,781        175,781 24
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  December 31, 2019  
 Quoted prices Significant 
 in active other Significant 
 markets for observable unobservable Total 
 identical assets inputs inputs fair 

   (Level 1)   (Level 2)   (Level 3)   value  
Assets: 

Investments in available-for-sale 
 debt securities: 
 Obligations of U.S. government 
  agencies and corporations $  21,763,345  21,763,345 
 Obligations of states and  
  political subdivisions  101,555,467  101,555,467 
 Mortgage-backed securities    112,220,917    112,220,917 
   Total available-for-sale 
    debt securities $    235,539,729    235,539,729 
 

Reclassifications 
Certain reclassifications have been made to the 2019 consolidated financial statement amounts to conform to 
the 2020 presentation.  Such reclassifications have no effect on the previously reported consolidated net 
income or stockholders’ equity. 
 
Subsequent Events 
The Company has considered all events occurring subsequent to December 31, 2020 for possible disclosure 
through March 4, 2021, the date these consolidated financial statements were available to be issued. 
 
NOTE 2 – CASH AND DUE FROM BANKS  
The Bank is generally required to maintain certain daily reserve balances on hand in accordance with 
regulatory requirements.  The reserve balances maintained in accordance with such requirements at December 
31, 2020 and 2019 were $0 and $1,328,000, respectively. 
 
NOTE 3 – INVESTMENTS IN DEBT SECURITIES  
The amortized cost, gross unrealized gains and losses, and estimated fair value of debt securities classified as 
available-for-sale at December 31, 2020 and 2019 are as follows: 
 

   Gross Gross 
  unreal- unreal- Estimated 
 Amortized ized ized fair 

 2020  cost   gains   losses   value  
Obligations of U.S.  
 government agencies 
 and corporations $ 12,125,094 1,016,145  13,141,239 
Obligations of states and  
 political subdivisions  157,326,036 5,878,063 (48,233) 163,155,866 
Mortgage-backed securities 190,555,587  5,222,183 (346,231) 195,431,539 

  $ 360,006,717 12,116,391 (394,464) 371,728,644 
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  December 31, 2019  
 Quoted prices Significant 
 in active other Significant 
 markets for observable unobservable Total 
 identical assets inputs inputs fair 

   (Level 1)   (Level 2)   (Level 3)   value  
Assets: 

Investments in available-for-sale 
 debt securities: 
 Obligations of U.S. government 
  agencies and corporations $  21,763,345  21,763,345 
 Obligations of states and  
  political subdivisions  101,555,467  101,555,467 
 Mortgage-backed securities    112,220,917    112,220,917 
   Total available-for-sale 
    debt securities $    235,539,729    235,539,729 
 

Reclassifications 
Certain reclassifications have been made to the 2019 consolidated financial statement amounts to conform to 
the 2020 presentation.  Such reclassifications have no effect on the previously reported consolidated net 
income or stockholders’ equity. 
 
Subsequent Events 
The Company has considered all events occurring subsequent to December 31, 2020 for possible disclosure 
through March 4, 2021, the date these consolidated financial statements were available to be issued. 
 
NOTE 2 – CASH AND DUE FROM BANKS  
The Bank is generally required to maintain certain daily reserve balances on hand in accordance with 
regulatory requirements.  The reserve balances maintained in accordance with such requirements at December 
31, 2020 and 2019 were $0 and $1,328,000, respectively. 
 
NOTE 3 – INVESTMENTS IN DEBT SECURITIES  
The amortized cost, gross unrealized gains and losses, and estimated fair value of debt securities classified as 
available-for-sale at December 31, 2020 and 2019 are as follows: 
 

   Gross Gross 
  unreal- unreal- Estimated 
 Amortized ized ized fair 

 2020  cost   gains   losses   value  
Obligations of U.S.  
 government agencies 
 and corporations $ 12,125,094 1,016,145  13,141,239 
Obligations of states and  
 political subdivisions  157,326,036 5,878,063 (48,233) 163,155,866 
Mortgage-backed securities 190,555,587  5,222,183 (346,231) 195,431,539 

  $ 360,006,717 12,116,391 (394,464) 371,728,644 
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  Gross Gross 
  unreal- unreal- Estimated 
 Amortized ized ized fair 

 2019  cost   gains   losses   value  
Obligations of U.S.  
 government agencies 
 and corporations $ 21,275,423 557,496 (69,574) 21,763,345 
Obligations of states and  
 political subdivisions  98,199,135 3,391,199 (34,867) 101,555,467 
Mortgage-backed securities 109,973,153  2,389,407 (141,643) 112,220,917 

  $ 229,447,711  6,338,102 (246,084) 235,539,729 
 

The amortized cost and estimated fair value of debt securities classified as available-for-sale at December 31, 
2020, by contractual maturity, are shown below.  Expected maturities may differ from contractual maturities 
because certain issuers have the right to call or prepay obligations with or without prepayment penalties.  
 

  Estimated 
 Amortized fair 

   cost   value  
 

Due one year or less $ 9,451,044 9,527,983 
Due one year through five years 31,345,410 32,465,337 
Due five years through ten years 56,816,804 59,922,391 
Due after ten years 71,837,872 74,381,394 
Mortgage-backed securities 190,555,587 195,431,539 
   $ 360,006,717 371,728,644 

 
Provided below is a summary of securities which were in an unrealized loss position at December 31, 2020 
and 2019: 
 

  Less than 12 months   12 months or more   Total  
 Estimated Unrealized Estimated Unrealized Estimated Unrealized 

2020  fair value  losses  fair value  losses  fair value  losses  
 

Obligations of states and  
political subdivisions $ 9,842,442 42,459 958,938 5,774 10,801,380 48,233 

Mortgage-backed securities 54,931,943 345,898  815,819  333 55,747,762 346,231 
  $ 64,774,385 388,357  1,774,757  6,107 66,549,142 394,464 
 
  Less than 12 months   12 months or more   Total  
 Estimated Unrealized Estimated Unrealized Estimated Unrealized 

2019  fair value  losses  fair value  losses  fair value  losses  
 

Obligations of U.S. 
 government agencies  

and corporations $ 4,722,525 37,543 5,868,330 32,031 10,590,855 69,574 
Obligations of states and  

political subdivisions  1,479,749 7,350 1,417,993 27,517 2,897,742 34,867 
Mortgage-backed securities  7,114,439  21,301 11,399,198 120,342 18,513,637 141,643 
  $ 13,316,713  66,194 18,685,521 179,890 32,002,234 246,084 

 
The mortgage-backed securities with unrealized losses are primarily issued from and guaranteed by the 
Federal National Mortgage Association or Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation.  Obligations of states 
and political subdivisions in an unrealized loss position are primarily comprised of bonds with adequate credit 
ratings, underlying collateral, and/or cash flow projections.  The unrealized losses associated with these 
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securities are not believed to be attributed to credit quality, but rather to changes in interest rates and 
temporary market movements.  In addition, the Company does not intend to sell the securities with unrealized 
losses, and it is not more likely than not that the Company will be required to sell them before recovery of 
their amortized cost bases, which may be at maturity.   
 
The carrying value of debt securities pledged to secure public funds, securities sold under repurchase 
agreements, certain short- and long-term borrowings, and for other purposes amounted to approximately 
$173,281,000 and $141,510,000 at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.  The Bank has also pledged 
letters of credit from the Federal Home Loan Bank of Chicago totaling $38,000,000 and $34,020,000 as 
additional collateral to secure public funds at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. 
 
NOTE 4 – LOANS 
The composition of the loan portfolio at December 31, 2020 and 2019 is as follows: 
 

  2020 2019 
Commercial: 
 Real estate $ 307,378,779 309,411,007 
 Agricultural production  75,039,341 93,070,885 
 Other  192,720,195 149,154,369 
Real estate: 
 Construction  35,598,497 47,242,208 
 Residential  112,764,242 129,650,232 
 Farmland  187,526,119 174,205,504 
Consumer   23,182,827  24,954,358 
   $ 934,210,000 927,688,563 

 
The Bank grants commercial, industrial, residential, agricultural, and consumer loans throughout south-
central Illinois, suburban southwestern Chicago, and the St. Louis, Missouri metropolitan area.  With the 
exception of agricultural credits, the Bank does not have any particular concentration of credit in any one 
economic sector; however, a substantial portion of the portfolio is concentrated in and secured by real estate 
in the Bank’s market areas.  The ability of the Bank’s borrowers to honor their contractual obligations is 
dependent upon the local economies and their effect on the real estate market.  Included in consumer loans 
are overdrafts of $199,970 and $339,561 at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.  During 2020, the 
Bank originated 946 PPP loans totaling $79,156,934, of which 571 loans totaling $54,542,978 were 
outstanding at December 31, 2020.  Such loans are guaranteed by the SBA. 
 
The following describe the risk characteristics relevant to each of the portfolio segments: 
 

Commercial real estate loans are secured by various commercial property types (including office and 
industrial buildings, warehouses, small retail shopping centers, and various special purpose properties, 
including hotels, restaurants, and nursing homes), a majority of which are owner-occupied and in the Bank’s 
market areas.  The Bank originates commercial real estate loans with a typical term of three or five years 
with a fixed or adjustable rate feature generally tied to a designated public index.  These loans are typically 
amortized over 15 or 25 years.  Strict underwriting standards are in place that include, but are not limited 
to, independent appraisals, cash flow analyses, creditworthiness, experience, and management.  For 
owner-occupied properties, the primary source of cash flow is from the ongoing operations and activities 
conducted by the party that owns the property.  Nonowner-occupied properties are those loans where 
the primary source of repayment is derived from rental income associated with the property or the 
proceeds of the sale, refinancing, or permanent financing of the property. 
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securities are not believed to be attributed to credit quality, but rather to changes in interest rates and 
temporary market movements.  In addition, the Company does not intend to sell the securities with unrealized 
losses, and it is not more likely than not that the Company will be required to sell them before recovery of 
their amortized cost bases, which may be at maturity.   
 
The carrying value of debt securities pledged to secure public funds, securities sold under repurchase 
agreements, certain short- and long-term borrowings, and for other purposes amounted to approximately 
$173,281,000 and $141,510,000 at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.  The Bank has also pledged 
letters of credit from the Federal Home Loan Bank of Chicago totaling $38,000,000 and $34,020,000 as 
additional collateral to secure public funds at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. 
 
NOTE 4 – LOANS 
The composition of the loan portfolio at December 31, 2020 and 2019 is as follows: 
 

  2020 2019 
Commercial: 
 Real estate $ 307,378,779 309,411,007 
 Agricultural production  75,039,341 93,070,885 
 Other  192,720,195 149,154,369 
Real estate: 
 Construction  35,598,497 47,242,208 
 Residential  112,764,242 129,650,232 
 Farmland  187,526,119 174,205,504 
Consumer   23,182,827  24,954,358 
   $ 934,210,000 927,688,563 

 
The Bank grants commercial, industrial, residential, agricultural, and consumer loans throughout south-
central Illinois, suburban southwestern Chicago, and the St. Louis, Missouri metropolitan area.  With the 
exception of agricultural credits, the Bank does not have any particular concentration of credit in any one 
economic sector; however, a substantial portion of the portfolio is concentrated in and secured by real estate 
in the Bank’s market areas.  The ability of the Bank’s borrowers to honor their contractual obligations is 
dependent upon the local economies and their effect on the real estate market.  Included in consumer loans 
are overdrafts of $199,970 and $339,561 at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.  During 2020, the 
Bank originated 946 PPP loans totaling $79,156,934, of which 571 loans totaling $54,542,978 were 
outstanding at December 31, 2020.  Such loans are guaranteed by the SBA. 
 
The following describe the risk characteristics relevant to each of the portfolio segments: 
 

Commercial real estate loans are secured by various commercial property types (including office and 
industrial buildings, warehouses, small retail shopping centers, and various special purpose properties, 
including hotels, restaurants, and nursing homes), a majority of which are owner-occupied and in the Bank’s 
market areas.  The Bank originates commercial real estate loans with a typical term of three or five years 
with a fixed or adjustable rate feature generally tied to a designated public index.  These loans are typically 
amortized over 15 or 25 years.  Strict underwriting standards are in place that include, but are not limited 
to, independent appraisals, cash flow analyses, creditworthiness, experience, and management.  For 
owner-occupied properties, the primary source of cash flow is from the ongoing operations and activities 
conducted by the party that owns the property.  Nonowner-occupied properties are those loans where 
the primary source of repayment is derived from rental income associated with the property or the 
proceeds of the sale, refinancing, or permanent financing of the property. 
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Agricultural loans, i.e., those loans which fund crop production, livestock production, and capital 
purchases, are structured to coincide with the purpose or seasonality.  Collateral support, determined 
repayment ability, and creditworthiness are all considered in the loan approval process.  
 
Commercial business loans vary in type and include secured and unsecured commercial business loans for 
the purpose of financing equipment acquisition, expansion, working capital, and other general business 
purposes, including issuing letters of credit.  The Company’s commercial business loan portfolio is 
comprised of loans for a variety of purposes and generally is secured by equipment, machinery, and other 
business assets.  The terms of these loans are generally for less than seven years.  The loans are either 
negotiated on a fixed-rate basis or carry variable interest rates that float in accordance with a designated public 
index.  Commercial credit decisions are based upon a complete credit review of the borrower.  A 
determination is made as to the borrower’s ability to repay in accordance with the proposed loan terms, 
as well as an overall assessment of the credit risks involved.  Personal guarantees of borrowers are 
generally required.  In evaluating a commercial business loan, the Bank considers debt service 
capabilities, actual and projected cash flows, and the borrower’s inherent industry risks. 
 

Construction lending generally involves a greater degree of risk than the Bank’s other real estate lending.  
The construction phase of a loan generally lasts 9 to 18 months.  As with the Bank’s other loan types, 
the underwriting standards require proper loan-to-value coverage and the borrower’s ability to service the 
debt.  Prior to approval of the construction loan, the Bank determines that the borrower has the approval, 
capacity, and wherewithal to handle the permanent financing.  
 

Residential real estate loans are predominantly collateralized by properties located in the Bank’s market 
areas.  The Bank adheres to strict underwriting standards that have been reviewed by the Board of Directors 
and the banking regulators.  The underwriting standards include, but are not limited to, repayment capacity, 
creditworthiness, proper loan-to-value coverage, and proper lien positions supported by title policies. 
 

Multifamily real estate loans are generally secured by apartment buildings and rental properties.  
Multifamily real estate loans are typically offered with interest rates that are fixed or adjust with a 
designated public index.  When originating multifamily real estate loans, the Bank evaluates the 
qualifications and financial condition of the borrower, profitability, and expertise, as well as the value and 
condition of the mortgaged property securing the loans.  The Bank also considers the financial resources of 
the borrower, the borrower’s experience in owning and managing similar properties, the cash flow the 
property generates (i.e., the gross rental income minus associated expenses), and the borrower’s global 
obligations to determine sustainable repayment capacity.  Multifamily real estate loans are carefully 
underwritten to determine proper valuation of the property, as well as the ability to service the debt. 
 

Home equity lines of credit are designed for owner-occupied homes.  These are typically junior liens, thus 
the Bank pays particular attention to the loan-to-value coverage and the debt service capacity of the borrower.  
Strict underwriting standards are followed to ensure safe and sound lending.  
 

Farm real estate loans are not unique to the Bank’s market areas.  The underwriting criteria is much the 
same as for other loans; i.e., loan-to-value coverage, repayment ability, and creditworthiness are paramount.  
Farm real estate loans may be structured to coincide with the seasonal nature of agriculture.  In determining 
the loan-to-value coverage, the Bank utilizes appraisers that are familiar with agricultural real estate values.  
 

Consumer loans are underwritten in a manner that verifies the borrower’s capacity to pay, 
creditworthiness, and proper valuation of the collateral.  The structure of the loan is dependent on the 
purpose and collateral being pledged as security.   
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At December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Bank has loans outstanding to the agricultural sector of $262,565,460 
and $267,276,389, respectively, which comprised 28.1% and 28.8%, respectively, of the Bank’s total loan 
portfolio.  The Bank’s agricultural credits are concentrated in the south-central Illinois area and are generally 
fully secured with either growing crops, farmland, livestock, and/or machinery and equipment.  Such loans 
are subject to the overall national effects of the agricultural economy, as well as the local effects relating to 
their south-central Illinois location. 
 
The aggregate amount of loans to executive officers and directors and loans made for the benefit of executive 
officers and directors was $1,095,543 and $1,391,785 at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.  Such 
loans were made in the normal course of business on substantially the same terms, including interest rates 
and collateral, as those prevailing at the same time for comparable transactions with other persons, and did 
not involve more than the normal risk of collectibility.  A summary of activity for loans to executive officers 
and directors for the year ended December 31, 2020 is as follows: 

 
Balance, December 31, 2019 $ 1,391,785 
New loans made  120,377 
Payments received   (416,619) 
Balance, December 31, 2020 $ 1,095,543 

 
Following is an analysis of the reserve for possible loan losses by loan type and those that have been 
specifically evaluated or evaluated in aggregate at December 31, 2020 and 2019: 

 
  2020  

  Commercial   Real estate  
  Agricultural 
 Real estate production Other Construction Residential Farmland Consumer Total 

  
Reserve for possible loan losses: 
 Beginning balance $ 3,301,859 2,165,567 2,869,050 375,943 1,593,630 784,762 564,224 11,655,035 
 Charge-offs  (87,412) (251,092) (5,625,541)  (357,328)  (90,546) (6,411,919) 
 Recoveries  4,239 451,225 40,729  160,949  18,392 675,534 
 Provision   (3,670)   (941,191)   5,870,034  (112,762)   (327,205)   241,892  13,041  4,740,139 
 Ending balance $  3,215,016   1,424,509   3,154,272  263,181   1,070,046   1,026,654  505,111  10,658,789 
 
Reserve allocations:  
 Individually evaluated 
   for impairment $ 656,808  25,000  70,841 200,000 57,241 1,009,890 
 Collectively evaluated 
   for impairment   2,558,208   1,424,509   3,129,272  263,181   999,205   826,654  447,870  9,648,899 
 Ending balance $   3,215,016   1,424,509   3,154,272  263,181   1,070,046   1,026,654  505,111  10,658,789 

 
Loans: 
 Individually evaluated 
   for impairment $ 19,668,468 4,471,122 9,823,473  4,287,297 18,180,662 311,380 56,742,402 
 Collectively evaluated 
   for impairment 287,710,311 70,568,219 182,896,722 35,598,497 108,476,945  169,345,457 22,871,447 877,467,598 
 Ending balance $ 307,378,779 75,039,341 192,720,195 35,598,497 112,764,242 187,526,119 23,182,827 934,210,000 
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At December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Bank has loans outstanding to the agricultural sector of $262,565,460 
and $267,276,389, respectively, which comprised 28.1% and 28.8%, respectively, of the Bank’s total loan 
portfolio.  The Bank’s agricultural credits are concentrated in the south-central Illinois area and are generally 
fully secured with either growing crops, farmland, livestock, and/or machinery and equipment.  Such loans 
are subject to the overall national effects of the agricultural economy, as well as the local effects relating to 
their south-central Illinois location. 
 
The aggregate amount of loans to executive officers and directors and loans made for the benefit of executive 
officers and directors was $1,095,543 and $1,391,785 at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.  Such 
loans were made in the normal course of business on substantially the same terms, including interest rates 
and collateral, as those prevailing at the same time for comparable transactions with other persons, and did 
not involve more than the normal risk of collectibility.  A summary of activity for loans to executive officers 
and directors for the year ended December 31, 2020 is as follows: 

 
Balance, December 31, 2019 $ 1,391,785 
New loans made  120,377 
Payments received   (416,619) 
Balance, December 31, 2020 $ 1,095,543 

 
Following is an analysis of the reserve for possible loan losses by loan type and those that have been 
specifically evaluated or evaluated in aggregate at December 31, 2020 and 2019: 

 
  2020  

  Commercial   Real estate  
  Agricultural 
 Real estate production Other Construction Residential Farmland Consumer Total 

  
Reserve for possible loan losses: 
 Beginning balance $ 3,301,859 2,165,567 2,869,050 375,943 1,593,630 784,762 564,224 11,655,035 
 Charge-offs  (87,412) (251,092) (5,625,541)  (357,328)  (90,546) (6,411,919) 
 Recoveries  4,239 451,225 40,729  160,949  18,392 675,534 
 Provision   (3,670)   (941,191)   5,870,034  (112,762)   (327,205)   241,892  13,041  4,740,139 
 Ending balance $  3,215,016   1,424,509   3,154,272  263,181   1,070,046   1,026,654  505,111  10,658,789 
 
Reserve allocations:  
 Individually evaluated 
   for impairment $ 656,808  25,000  70,841 200,000 57,241 1,009,890 
 Collectively evaluated 
   for impairment   2,558,208   1,424,509   3,129,272  263,181   999,205   826,654  447,870  9,648,899 
 Ending balance $   3,215,016   1,424,509   3,154,272  263,181   1,070,046   1,026,654  505,111  10,658,789 

 
Loans: 
 Individually evaluated 
   for impairment $ 19,668,468 4,471,122 9,823,473  4,287,297 18,180,662 311,380 56,742,402 
 Collectively evaluated 
   for impairment 287,710,311 70,568,219 182,896,722 35,598,497 108,476,945  169,345,457 22,871,447 877,467,598 
 Ending balance $ 307,378,779 75,039,341 192,720,195 35,598,497 112,764,242 187,526,119 23,182,827 934,210,000 
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  2019  
  Commercial   Real estate  
  Agricultural 
 Real estate production Other Construction Residential Farmland Consumer Total 

  
Reserve for possible loan losses: 
 Beginning balance $ 2,667,678 1,886,570 2,703,296 494,765 1,321,462 951,242 357,755 10,382,768 
 Charge-offs  (213,412) (136,000) (245,383)  (305,558)  (79,422) (979,775) 
 Recoveries  27,413 1,500 47,604  30,644  53,786 160,947 
 Provision  820,180   413,497   363,533  (118,822)   547,082   (166,480)  232,105  2,091,095 
 Ending balance $  3,301,859   2,165,567   2,869,050  375,943   1,593,630   784,762  564,224  11,655,035 
 
Reserve allocations:  
 Individually evaluated 
   for impairment $ 375,000 276,412 238,340  274,778 105,000 24,292 1,293,822 
 Collectively evaluated 
   for impairment  2,926,859   1,889,155   2,630,710  375,943   1,318,852   679,762  539,932  10,361,213 
 Ending balance $  3,301,859   2,165,567   2,869,050  375,943   1,593,630   784,762  564,224  11,655,035 
 
Loans: 
 Individually evaluated 
   for impairment $ 17,270,681 4,987,720 16,387,742  7,963,210 19,791,275 289,676 66,690,304 
 Collectively evaluated 
   for impairment 292,140,326 88,083,165 132,766,627 47,242,208 121,687,022  154,414,229 24,664,682 860,998,259 
 Ending balance $ 309,411,007 93,070,885 149,154,369 47,242,208 129,650,232 174,205,504 24,954,358 927,688,563 

 
A summary of impaired loans by type for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 is as follows: 
 
  2020  

   Recorded Recorded 
 Unpaid investment investment Total  Average Interest 
 principal with no with recorded Related recorded income 
 balance reserve reserve investment reserve investment recognized 

  

 Commercial: 
  Real estate $ 3,152,629 651,355 2,305,877 2,957,232 656,808 2,368,843 17,430 
  Agricultural production       168,975  
  Other 6,907,188 3,276,832 90,645 3,367,477 25,000 5,330,498 21,246 
 Real estate: 
  Construction        
  Residential 657,018 498,090 88,909 586,999 70,841 819,814 19,819 
  Farmland 1,899,967 226,696 1,329,888 1,556,584 200,000 1,474,526 12,468 
 Consumer   211,169     115,167  115,167  57,241  44,216    

 $ 12,827,971 4,652,973 3,930,486 8,583,459 1,009,890 10,206,872 70,963 

 
  2019  

   Recorded Recorded 
 Unpaid investment investment Total  Average Interest 
 principal with no with recorded Related recorded income 
 balance reserve reserve investment reserve investment recognized 

  

 Commercial: 
  Real estate $ 2,443,310 459,374 1,871,301 2,330,675 375,000 4,489,453 17,966 
  Agricultural production  600,918 57,165 334,686 391,851 276,412 632,831 7,696 
  Other 561,607 194,466 310,745 505,211 238,340 558,100 10,209 
 Real estate: 
  Construction        
  Residential 1,177,282 553,398 550,771 1,104,169 274,778 1,206,904 25,672 
  Farmland 777,644 231,750 527,672 759,422 105,000 496,323 12,746 
 Consumer   55,456  1,283  24,292  25,575  24,292   33,900  138 

 $  5,616,217 1,497,436 3,619,467 5,116,903 1,293,822  7,417,511 74,427 
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Following is a summary of past-due loans by type and by number of days delinquent at December 31, 2020 
and 2019: 
  2020  

 

30-59 days 
past due 

60-89 
days 

past due 
Greater than 

90 days 
Total 

past due Current 
Total 
loans 

Recorded 
investment > 
90 days past 

due and 
accruing 

        
Commercial:        
  Real estate $ 4,510,012 1,529,877 5,007,634 11,047,523 296,331,256 307,378,779 — 
  Agricultural production 385,083 13,760 1,193,600 1,592,443 73,446,898 75,039,341 — 
  Other 917,181 614,605 3,969,079 5,500,865 187,219,330 192,720,195 — 
Real estate:        
  Construction 154,671   154,671 35,443,826 35,598,497 — 
  Residential 1,998,239 761,888 457,966 3,218,093 109,546,149 112,764,242 —  
  Farmland 40,074 40,841 4,916,133 4,997,048 182,529,071 187,526,119 — 
Consumer   295,052  130,184    121,644   546,880   22,635,947   23,182,827    —  

 $ 8,300,312  3,091,155 15,666,056   27,057,523 907,152,477 934,210,000    —  

 
        

  2019  
 

30-59 days 
past due 

60-89 
days 

past due 
Greater than 

90 days 
Total 

past due Current 
Total 
loans 

Recorded 
investment > 
90 days past 

due and 
accruing 

        
Commercial:        
  Real estate $ 1,408,506 883,638 45,301 2,337,445 307,073,562 309,411,007 — 
  Agricultural production 34,529 906,340 425,042 1,365,911 91,704,974 93,070,885 — 
  Other 442,750 6,723,936 2,271,455 9,438,141 139,716,228 149,154,369 — 
Real estate:        
  Construction 327,054   327,054 46,915,154 47,242,208 — 
  Residential 1,728,031 504,831 646,422 2,879,284 126,770,948 129,650,232 —  
  Farmland 318,828 1,644,280 944,938 2,908,046 171,297,458 174,205,504 — 
Consumer   144,666  117,032    57,008   318,706   24,635,652   24,954,358    —  

 $ 4,404,364 10,780,057    4,390,166   19,574,587 908,113,976 927,688,563    —  

 
Following is a summary of loans on nonaccrual status by type at December 31, 2020 and 2019: 
 

  2020 2019 
Commercial: 
 Real estate $ 7,352,269 2,995,933 
 Agricultural production  1,771,849 1,263,984 
 Other  4,233,368 9,521,418 
Real estate: 
 Construction  — — 
 Residential  2,073,932 2,520,179 
 Farmland  7,193,523 2,990,635 
Consumer   224,073  155,958 
   $ 22,849,014 19,448,107 

 
The Bank categorizes loans into risk categories based on relevant information about the ability of borrowers 
to service their debt such as current financial information, historical payment experience, collateral support, 
credit documentation, public information, and current economic trends, among other factors.  The Bank 
analyzes loans individually on a continuous basis by classifying the loans as to credit risk.  The Bank uses 
the following definitions for risk ratings: 
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Following is a summary of past-due loans by type and by number of days delinquent at December 31, 2020 
and 2019: 
  2020  

 

30-59 days 
past due 

60-89 
days 

past due 
Greater than 

90 days 
Total 

past due Current 
Total 
loans 

Recorded 
investment > 
90 days past 

due and 
accruing 

        
Commercial:        
  Real estate $ 4,510,012 1,529,877 5,007,634 11,047,523 296,331,256 307,378,779 — 
  Agricultural production 385,083 13,760 1,193,600 1,592,443 73,446,898 75,039,341 — 
  Other 917,181 614,605 3,969,079 5,500,865 187,219,330 192,720,195 — 
Real estate:        
  Construction 154,671   154,671 35,443,826 35,598,497 — 
  Residential 1,998,239 761,888 457,966 3,218,093 109,546,149 112,764,242 —  
  Farmland 40,074 40,841 4,916,133 4,997,048 182,529,071 187,526,119 — 
Consumer   295,052  130,184    121,644   546,880   22,635,947   23,182,827    —  

 $ 8,300,312  3,091,155 15,666,056   27,057,523 907,152,477 934,210,000    —  

 
        

  2019  
 

30-59 days 
past due 

60-89 
days 

past due 
Greater than 

90 days 
Total 

past due Current 
Total 
loans 

Recorded 
investment > 
90 days past 

due and 
accruing 

        
Commercial:        
  Real estate $ 1,408,506 883,638 45,301 2,337,445 307,073,562 309,411,007 — 
  Agricultural production 34,529 906,340 425,042 1,365,911 91,704,974 93,070,885 — 
  Other 442,750 6,723,936 2,271,455 9,438,141 139,716,228 149,154,369 — 
Real estate:        
  Construction 327,054   327,054 46,915,154 47,242,208 — 
  Residential 1,728,031 504,831 646,422 2,879,284 126,770,948 129,650,232 —  
  Farmland 318,828 1,644,280 944,938 2,908,046 171,297,458 174,205,504 — 
Consumer   144,666  117,032    57,008   318,706   24,635,652   24,954,358    —  

 $ 4,404,364 10,780,057    4,390,166   19,574,587 908,113,976 927,688,563    —  

 
Following is a summary of loans on nonaccrual status by type at December 31, 2020 and 2019: 
 

  2020 2019 
Commercial: 
 Real estate $ 7,352,269 2,995,933 
 Agricultural production  1,771,849 1,263,984 
 Other  4,233,368 9,521,418 
Real estate: 
 Construction  — — 
 Residential  2,073,932 2,520,179 
 Farmland  7,193,523 2,990,635 
Consumer   224,073  155,958 
   $ 22,849,014 19,448,107 

 
The Bank categorizes loans into risk categories based on relevant information about the ability of borrowers 
to service their debt such as current financial information, historical payment experience, collateral support, 
credit documentation, public information, and current economic trends, among other factors.  The Bank 
analyzes loans individually on a continuous basis by classifying the loans as to credit risk.  The Bank uses 
the following definitions for risk ratings: 
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 ▪ Watch – Loans classified as watch have potential weaknesses that deserve management’s close attention.  
If left uncorrected, these potential weaknesses may result in deterioration of the repayment prospects for 
the loan or of the Bank’s credit position at some future date. 

 
 ▪ Substandard – Loans classified as substandard are inadequately protected by the current sound worth 

and paying capacity of the borrower or of the collateral pledged, if any.  Loans so classified have a well-
defined weakness or weaknesses that jeopardize the liquidation of the debt.  They are characterized by 
the distinct possibility that the Bank will sustain some loss if the deficiencies are not corrected. 

 
 ▪ Doubtful – Loans classified as doubtful have all the weaknesses inherent in those classified as 

substandard, with the added characteristic that the weaknesses make collection or liquidation in full, on 
the basis of currently existing factors, conditions, and values, highly questionable and improbable. 

 
Loans not meeting the criteria above that are analyzed individually as part of the above-described process are 
considered pass-rated loans. 
 
The following table presents the credit risk profile of the Bank’s loan portfolio based on rating category as of 
December 31, 2020 and 2019: 

 
  2020  

 Commercial Agricultural Commercial Real estate Residential 
 Grade  real estate  production   other  construction real estate Farmland Consumer Total 
 
Pass $ 287,710,311 70,568,219 182,896,722 35,598,497 108,476,945 169,345,457 22,871,447 877,467,598 
Watch  8,550,670 1,471,614 1,860,037  876,903 9,858,185 27,462 22,644,871 
Substandard  11,117,798 2,999,508 4,963,436  3,410,394 8,322,477 283,918 31,097,531 
Doubtful        3,000,000              3,000,000 
 $ 307,378,779 75,039,341 192,720,195 35,598,497 112,764,242 187,526,119 23,182,827 934,210,000 

 
  2019  

 Commercial Agricultural Commercial Real estate Residential 
 Grade  real estate  production   other  construction real estate Farmland Consumer Total 
 
Pass $ 292,140,326 88,083,165 132,766,627 47,242,208 121,687,022 154,414,229 24,664,682 860,998,259 
Watch  8,499,895 3,103,856 694,069  3,589,374 9,658,684 44,816 25,590,694 
Substandard  8,770,786 1,883,864 15,693,673  4,373,836 10,132,591 244,860 41,099,610 
Doubtful                         
 $ 309,411,007 93,070,885 149,154,369 47,242,208 129,650,232 174,205,504 24,954,358 927,688,563 

 
The Bank seeks to assist customers that are experiencing financial difficulty by renegotiating loans within 
lending regulations and guidelines.  A loan modification is considered a troubled debt restructuring when a 
concession has been granted to a borrower experiencing financial difficulties.  The Bank’s modifications 
generally include interest rate adjustments, and amortization and maturity date extensions.  These 
modifications allow the borrowers short-term cash relief to allow them to improve their financial condition.  
The Bank’s troubled debt restructured loans are considered impaired and are individually evaluated for 
impairment as part of the reserve for possible loan losses as described above.   

  

 
CNB BANK SHARES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 

 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

 
 

  

The following table presents information regarding loan modifications during the years ended December 31, 
2020 and 2019 which met the definition of troubled debt restructured loans: 
 

  Year ended December 31, 2020   Year ended December 31, 2019  
 Pre- Post- Pre- Post- 
 modification modification modification modification 
 outstanding outstanding outstanding outstanding 
 Number  recorded recorded Number  recorded recorded 
 of loans balance balance of loans balance balance 

 

Commercial: 
 Real estate 2 $ 1,490,531 1,490,531 1 $ 383,252 383,252 
 Other 1 83,435 83,435    
Real estate: 
 Construction       
 Residential       
Consumer               

  3 $ 1,573,966 1,573,966 1 $ 383,252 383,252 
 
No restructured loans defaulted within 12 months of their restructuring in 2020 or 2019.  The Bank had no 
commitments to extend additional credit on any loans classified as troubled debt restructured loans at 
December 31, 2020. 
 
NOTE 5 – BANK PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT 
A summary of Bank premises and equipment at December 31, 2020 and 2019 is as follows:  

 

  2020 2019 
 

Land  $ 3,119,709 2,894,709 
Buildings and improvements 20,229,871 19,057,067 
Furniture, fixtures, and equipment 12,323,984 11,515,558 
   35,673,564 33,467,334 
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization  16,503,141 14,998,726 
   $ 19,170,423 18,468,608 

 
Amounts charged to noninterest expense for depreciation and amortization aggregated $1,625,090 and 
$1,312,239 for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.  
 
The Company leases certain premises and equipment under noncancelable operating lease agreements that 
expire at various dates through 2025.  Minimum rental commitments under these noncancelable operating 
lease agreements at December 31, 2020, for each of the next five years, and in the aggregate, are as follows:  
 

Year ending December 31: 
2021  $ 289,853 
2022   286,103 
2023   292,526 
2024   223,136 
2025   56,214 
Thereafter      

Total minimum payments required $ 1,147,832 
 
The Company also leases certain equipment under agreements that are cancelable with 30 to 90 days’ notice.  
Total rent expense for 2020 and 2019 was $417,056 and $400,983, respectively.   
 



33CNB ANNUAL REPORT 2020

 
CNB BANK SHARES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 

 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

 
 

  

The following table presents information regarding loan modifications during the years ended December 31, 
2020 and 2019 which met the definition of troubled debt restructured loans: 
 

  Year ended December 31, 2020   Year ended December 31, 2019  
 Pre- Post- Pre- Post- 
 modification modification modification modification 
 outstanding outstanding outstanding outstanding 
 Number  recorded recorded Number  recorded recorded 
 of loans balance balance of loans balance balance 

 

Commercial: 
 Real estate 2 $ 1,490,531 1,490,531 1 $ 383,252 383,252 
 Other 1 83,435 83,435    
Real estate: 
 Construction       
 Residential       
Consumer               

  3 $ 1,573,966 1,573,966 1 $ 383,252 383,252 
 
No restructured loans defaulted within 12 months of their restructuring in 2020 or 2019.  The Bank had no 
commitments to extend additional credit on any loans classified as troubled debt restructured loans at 
December 31, 2020. 
 
NOTE 5 – BANK PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT 
A summary of Bank premises and equipment at December 31, 2020 and 2019 is as follows:  

 

  2020 2019 
 

Land  $ 3,119,709 2,894,709 
Buildings and improvements 20,229,871 19,057,067 
Furniture, fixtures, and equipment 12,323,984 11,515,558 
   35,673,564 33,467,334 
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization  16,503,141 14,998,726 
   $ 19,170,423 18,468,608 

 
Amounts charged to noninterest expense for depreciation and amortization aggregated $1,625,090 and 
$1,312,239 for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.  
 
The Company leases certain premises and equipment under noncancelable operating lease agreements that 
expire at various dates through 2025.  Minimum rental commitments under these noncancelable operating 
lease agreements at December 31, 2020, for each of the next five years, and in the aggregate, are as follows:  
 

Year ending December 31: 
2021  $ 289,853 
2022   286,103 
2023   292,526 
2024   223,136 
2025   56,214 
Thereafter      

Total minimum payments required $ 1,147,832 
 
The Company also leases certain equipment under agreements that are cancelable with 30 to 90 days’ notice.  
Total rent expense for 2020 and 2019 was $417,056 and $400,983, respectively.   
 



 
CNB BANK SHARES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 

 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

 
 

  

A reconciliation of expected income tax expense computed by applying the federal statutory rate of 21% to 
income before applicable income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 is as follows:  

 
  2020 2019 
 

Expected statutory federal income tax $ 3,908,678 3,783,931 
Tax-exempt interest and dividend income   (608,311) (553,781) 
State tax, net of related federal benefit  1,033,320 1,126,577 
Other, net   (431,099)  126,634 
   $ 3,902,588 4,483,361 

 
The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of deferred tax assets and 
liabilities at December 31, 2020 and 2019 are presented below:  

 
  2020 2019 
Deferred tax assets: 
 Reserve for possible loan losses $ 2,850,979 3,114,177 
 Deferred compensation 2,521,192 2,447,163 
 Purchase adjustments 498,159 821,851 
 Cash flow hedge  36,914   
 Other, net  419,548  496,711 
  Total deferred tax assets 6,326,792 6,879,902 
Deferred tax liabilities: 
 Bank premises and equipment (1,416,679) (1,475,735) 
 Intangible assets (1,730,028) (1,620,152) 
 Available-for-sale securities – net gain  (2,461,605) (1,279,324) 
 Other, net  (240,427)  (198,239) 
  Total deferred tax liabilities (5,848,739) (4,573,450) 
  Net deferred tax assets $  478,053 2,306,452 

 
The Company is required to provide a valuation reserve on deferred tax assets when it is more likely than not 
that some portion of the assets will not be realized.  The Company has not established a valuation reserve at 
December 31, 2020 and 2019, due to management’s belief that all criteria for recognition have been met, 
including the existence of a history of taxes paid sufficient to support the realization of deferred tax assets.  
 
NOTE 8 – SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS 
Short-term borrowings consisted entirely of securities sold under repurchase agreements at December 31, 
2020 and 2019, which are collateralized by debt securities consisting of $42,018,158 (which includes 
$33,373,184 of obligations of U.S. government agencies and corporations and mortgage-backed securities, 
and $8,644,974 of obligations of states and political subdivisions) at December 31, 2020.  The Bank also 
occasionally borrows funds purchased on an overnight basis from unaffiliated financial institutions (including 
the Federal Home Loan Bank of Chicago) to meet short-term liquidity needs.  The average balances, weighted 
average interest rates paid, and maximum month-end amounts outstanding for the years ended December 31, 
2020 and 2019, and the average rates at each year-end for funds purchased and securities sold under 
repurchase agreements, are as follows:  

 

   2020 2019 
 

 Average balance $ 32,311,373  20,153,554 
 Weighted average interest rate paid 
   during the year  0.47% 1.68% 
 Maximum amount outstanding 
   at any month-end $ 38,159,593  28,621,537 
 Average rate at end of year 0.33% 1.18% CNB ANNUAL REPORT 202034
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The Bank leases a portion of its banking facilities to unaffiliated entities under leases that are cancelable with 
30 to 90 days’ notice.  Total rental income for 2020 and 2019 was $81,672 and $120,115, respectively.  
 
NOTE 6 – DEPOSITS 
A summary of interest-bearing deposits at December 31, 2020 and 2019 is as follows:  

 
  2020 2019 
 

Interest-bearing transaction accounts $ 304,824,165 203,235,961 
Savings   334,773,464 288,669,279 
Time deposits   365,598,949 443,582,607 
   $ 1,005,196,578 935,487,847 

 
Deposits of executive officers, directors, and their related interests at December 31, 2020 and 2019 totaled 
$2,713,077 and $2,931,847, respectively.  
 
Interest expense on deposits for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 is summarized as follows:  

 
  2020 2019 
 

Interest-bearing transaction accounts $ 1,458,493 1,696,872 
Savings  1,158,990 2,441,693 
Time deposits    6,788,435  9,183,191 
   $ 9,405,918 13,321,756 

 
Time deposits meeting or exceeding the FDIC insurance limit of $250,000 totaled $86,076,219 and 
$103,274,347 at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.  Following are the maturities of time deposits 
for each of the next five years and in the aggregate at December 31, 2020:  

 
Year ending December 31: 
 2021 $ 305,695,423 
 2022 35,890,982 
 2023 9,576,330 
 2024 9,333,261 
 2025  5,102,953 

  $ 365,598,949 
 
NOTE 7 – INCOME TAXES 
The components of income tax expense (benefit) for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 are as 
follows:  

 
  2020 2019 
Current: 
    Federal  $ 1,911,557 3,036,868 
    State   1,307,999 1,426,047 
Deferred    683,032  20,446 
   $ 3,902,588 4,483,361 
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A reconciliation of expected income tax expense computed by applying the federal statutory rate of 21% to 
income before applicable income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 is as follows:  

 
  2020 2019 
 

Expected statutory federal income tax $ 3,908,678 3,783,931 
Tax-exempt interest and dividend income   (608,311) (553,781) 
State tax, net of related federal benefit  1,033,320 1,126,577 
Other, net   (431,099)  126,634 
   $ 3,902,588 4,483,361 

 
The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of deferred tax assets and 
liabilities at December 31, 2020 and 2019 are presented below:  

 
  2020 2019 
Deferred tax assets: 
 Reserve for possible loan losses $ 2,850,979 3,114,177 
 Deferred compensation 2,521,192 2,447,163 
 Purchase adjustments 498,159 821,851 
 Cash flow hedge  36,914   
 Other, net  419,548  496,711 
  Total deferred tax assets 6,326,792 6,879,902 
Deferred tax liabilities: 
 Bank premises and equipment (1,416,679) (1,475,735) 
 Intangible assets (1,730,028) (1,620,152) 
 Available-for-sale securities – net gain  (2,461,605) (1,279,324) 
 Other, net  (240,427)  (198,239) 
  Total deferred tax liabilities (5,848,739) (4,573,450) 
  Net deferred tax assets $  478,053 2,306,452 

 
The Company is required to provide a valuation reserve on deferred tax assets when it is more likely than not 
that some portion of the assets will not be realized.  The Company has not established a valuation reserve at 
December 31, 2020 and 2019, due to management’s belief that all criteria for recognition have been met, 
including the existence of a history of taxes paid sufficient to support the realization of deferred tax assets.  
 
NOTE 8 – SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS 
Short-term borrowings consisted entirely of securities sold under repurchase agreements at December 31, 
2020 and 2019, which are collateralized by debt securities consisting of $42,018,158 (which includes 
$33,373,184 of obligations of U.S. government agencies and corporations and mortgage-backed securities, 
and $8,644,974 of obligations of states and political subdivisions) at December 31, 2020.  The Bank also 
occasionally borrows funds purchased on an overnight basis from unaffiliated financial institutions (including 
the Federal Home Loan Bank of Chicago) to meet short-term liquidity needs.  The average balances, weighted 
average interest rates paid, and maximum month-end amounts outstanding for the years ended December 31, 
2020 and 2019, and the average rates at each year-end for funds purchased and securities sold under 
repurchase agreements, are as follows:  

 

   2020 2019 
 

 Average balance $ 32,311,373  20,153,554 
 Weighted average interest rate paid 
   during the year  0.47% 1.68% 
 Maximum amount outstanding 
   at any month-end $ 38,159,593  28,621,537 
 Average rate at end of year 0.33% 1.18% 35
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NOTE 9 – FEDERAL HOME LOAN BANK BORROWINGS 
At December 31, 2020, the Bank had fixed-rate advances outstanding with the Federal Home Loan Bank of 
Chicago, maturing as follows:  

 

    Weighted 
    average 
   Amount  rate  

 

Due in 2021 $ 13,000,000 1.63% 
Due in 2022  4,000,000 1.96% 
Due in 2024  3,000,000 1.97% 
Due in 2026  2,250,000 2.04% 
   $ 22,250,000 

 
At December 31, 2020, the Bank maintained a line of credit for $212,356,516 with the Federal Home Loan 
Bank of Chicago and had availability under this line of $152,032,840.  Federal Home Loan Bank of Chicago 
advances are secured under a blanket agreement which assigns all Federal Home Loan Bank of Chicago stock, 
and one- to four-family mortgage, commercial real estate, multifamily real estate, commercial, agricultural 
production, and farmland loans totaling $348,355,017 at December 31, 2020.  
 
NOTE 10 – NOTES PAYABLE 
Following is a summary of the Company’s notes payable at December 31, 2020 and 2019:  

 

   2020 2019 
Revolving line of credit note payable $   
Term notes payable 5,643,309 6,550,000 
   $ 5,643,309  6,550,000 

 
At December 31, 2020, the Company maintains two notes payable borrowing arrangements with an 
unaffiliated financial institution.  The term note payable had an original balance of $6,700,000, with a balance 
of $5,643,309 and $6,550,000 at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, maturing on May 31, 2025.  
During 2019, interest was payable quarterly, and required quarterly principal and interest payments of 
$213,468 commencing February 28, 2021, at a fixed rate of 4.89%, with the balance due at maturity.  Effective 
March 15, 2020, the term note payable was amended to require quarterly interest payments at a variable rate 
2.12% over a designated public index through June 15, 2020.  After June 15, 2020, the term note payable 
requires quarterly principal and interest payments of approximately $360,000. Future principal interest 
payments are $1,248,871 in 2021, $1,296,110 in 2022, $1,345,135 in 2023, and $1,396,015 in 2024, and 
$528,613 in 2025.  The revolving line of credit note payable has a maximum availability of $2,000,000, 
matures on March 28, 2021, and requires quarterly interest payments at a variable rate of interest.  The line 
of credit note payable has not been drawn upon since the loan’s inception and is fully available at December 
31, 2020 for future advances.  A second term note payable with an original balance of $5,368,359, with a 
maturity of March 28, 2020, and a fixed rate of 3.68%, was paid in its entirety on December 27, 2019.  
 
The notes payable are secured by the common stock of the Bank with a book value of approximately 
$154,836,000 at December 31, 2020, and include certain restrictions that, among other things, specify 
minimum levels for earnings, capital, and the reserve for possible loan losses, and maximum levels for 
nonperforming loans.  Any of the financial ratios or covenants may be waived at the discretion of the lending 
institution.  As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company was in compliance with all of the financial 
ratios and covenants specified in the notes payable agreements or has received a waiver from the lender.  
Company management does not believe the covenants will restrict its future operations.  The weighted 
average interest rates paid on the notes payable in 2020 and 2019 were 4.88% and 4.61%, respectively.   
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NOTE 11 – CAPITAL STOCK 
The Company has authorized 20,000,000 shares of common stock with a par value of $0.05 per share.  At 
December 31, 2020, 5,779,659 shares were issued and outstanding (including 415,847 shares held in 
treasury).  Holders of the Company’s common stock are entitled to one vote per share on all matters submitted 
to a shareholder vote, except that 4,000,000 shares of the authorized common shares are designated as 
nonvoting shares, none of which were issued at December 31, 2020.  Holders of the Company’s common 
stock are entitled to receive dividends when, as, and if declared by the Company’s Board of Directors.  In the 
event of liquidation of the Company, the holders of the Company’s common stock are entitled to share ratably 
in the remaining assets after payment of all liabilities and any preferred stock outstanding. 
 
The Company has authorized 200,000 shares of preferred stock, 9,745 of which has been issued at 
December 31, 2020, as described below.  Preferred stock may be issued by the Company’s Board of Directors 
from time to time, in series, at which time the terms of such series (par value per share, dividend rates and 
dates, cumulative or noncumulative, liquidation preferences, etc.) shall be fixed by the Board of Directors.   
 
Castle Creek Transaction 
On January 17, 2018, Castle Creek Capital Partners VI, LP (Castle Creek) purchased 525,459 shares of 
common stock and 9,745 shares of nonvoting Series A preferred stock for $10,436,557 ($19.86 per common 
share) and $19,352,310, respectively, from the Company.  The Series A preferred stock has a par value of 
$0.01 per share and each share of preferred stock is convertible into 100 shares of common stock or nonvoting 
common stock.  The purchase agreement restricts Castle Creek from purchasing more than 33.3% of the 
Company’s total equity, and Castle Creek’s ownership of voting common stock shall not exceed 9.9% of the 
total issued and outstanding voting common stock.  Additionally, the purchase agreement provides 
subscription rights to Castle Creek granting it the opportunity to acquire from the Company additional 
Company securities to maintain its proportionate interest in the Company in the event of any offer or sale of 
any equity in the Company.  
 
The Company’s shareholders have approved various stock option plans under which options to purchase up 
to 3,400,000 shares of Company common stock were authorized for grants to directors, officers, and 
employees of the Company and Bank.  Options to purchase Company common stock are granted at the fair 
value of a share of common stock on the grant date.  Options granted to the officers and directors of the 
Company and Bank vest 20% each year and expire in ten years.  At December 31, 2020, 1,594,785 options 
to purchase common shares are available for future grants.   
 
A summary of the activity of nonvested options for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 is as follows: 
 

  Weighted 
  average 
 Number grant date 
 of shares fair value 
 

Nonvested at December 31, 2018 286,350 0.37 
Granted   
Vested (100,930) 0.36 
Forfeited  (9,040) 0.20 
Nonvested at December 31, 2019 176,380 0.39 
Granted 35,425 1.28 
Vested (76,310) 0.32 
Forfeited  (1,380) 0.21 
Nonvested at December 31, 2020 134,115 0.68 
  



37CNB ANNUAL REPORT 2020

 
CNB BANK SHARES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 

 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

 
 

  

NOTE 11 – CAPITAL STOCK 
The Company has authorized 20,000,000 shares of common stock with a par value of $0.05 per share.  At 
December 31, 2020, 5,779,659 shares were issued and outstanding (including 415,847 shares held in 
treasury).  Holders of the Company’s common stock are entitled to one vote per share on all matters submitted 
to a shareholder vote, except that 4,000,000 shares of the authorized common shares are designated as 
nonvoting shares, none of which were issued at December 31, 2020.  Holders of the Company’s common 
stock are entitled to receive dividends when, as, and if declared by the Company’s Board of Directors.  In the 
event of liquidation of the Company, the holders of the Company’s common stock are entitled to share ratably 
in the remaining assets after payment of all liabilities and any preferred stock outstanding. 
 
The Company has authorized 200,000 shares of preferred stock, 9,745 of which has been issued at 
December 31, 2020, as described below.  Preferred stock may be issued by the Company’s Board of Directors 
from time to time, in series, at which time the terms of such series (par value per share, dividend rates and 
dates, cumulative or noncumulative, liquidation preferences, etc.) shall be fixed by the Board of Directors.   
 
Castle Creek Transaction 
On January 17, 2018, Castle Creek Capital Partners VI, LP (Castle Creek) purchased 525,459 shares of 
common stock and 9,745 shares of nonvoting Series A preferred stock for $10,436,557 ($19.86 per common 
share) and $19,352,310, respectively, from the Company.  The Series A preferred stock has a par value of 
$0.01 per share and each share of preferred stock is convertible into 100 shares of common stock or nonvoting 
common stock.  The purchase agreement restricts Castle Creek from purchasing more than 33.3% of the 
Company’s total equity, and Castle Creek’s ownership of voting common stock shall not exceed 9.9% of the 
total issued and outstanding voting common stock.  Additionally, the purchase agreement provides 
subscription rights to Castle Creek granting it the opportunity to acquire from the Company additional 
Company securities to maintain its proportionate interest in the Company in the event of any offer or sale of 
any equity in the Company.  
 
The Company’s shareholders have approved various stock option plans under which options to purchase up 
to 3,400,000 shares of Company common stock were authorized for grants to directors, officers, and 
employees of the Company and Bank.  Options to purchase Company common stock are granted at the fair 
value of a share of common stock on the grant date.  Options granted to the officers and directors of the 
Company and Bank vest 20% each year and expire in ten years.  At December 31, 2020, 1,594,785 options 
to purchase common shares are available for future grants.   
 
A summary of the activity of nonvested options for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 is as follows: 
 

  Weighted 
  average 
 Number grant date 
 of shares fair value 
 

Nonvested at December 31, 2018 286,350 0.37 
Granted   
Vested (100,930) 0.36 
Forfeited  (9,040) 0.20 
Nonvested at December 31, 2019 176,380 0.39 
Granted 35,425 1.28 
Vested (76,310) 0.32 
Forfeited  (1,380) 0.21 
Nonvested at December 31, 2020 134,115 0.68 
  



CNB ANNUAL REPORT 202038

 
CNB BANK SHARES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 

 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

 
 

  

Following is a summary of stock option activity for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019: 
 

 Weighted Aggregate 
 average Remaining intrinsic 
 option price Number contractual value per 
  per share  of shares term (years) option share 
 

Outstanding at December 31, 2018 $ 14.24 729,350 
Granted   
Exercised 12.53 (117,360) 
Forfeited 15.36  (10,340) 
Outstanding at December 31, 2019 14.55 601,650 5.18 $  9.39 
Exercisable at December 31, 2019 $ 13.56 425,270 4.32 $ 10.38 
 
Outstanding at December 31, 2019 $ 13.56 601,650 
Granted 24.63 35,425  
Exercised 13.00 (131,810) 
Forfeited 14.43  (2,380) 
Outstanding at December 31, 2020  15.67 502,885 4.96 $  8.96 
Exercisable at December 31, 2020 $ 14.32 368,770 4.13 $ 10.31 
 

The fair value of options vested during 2020 and 2019 was $1,879,515 and $2,004,470, respectively.  At 
December 31, 2020, the total unrecognized compensation expense related to nonvested stock options was 
$73,868 and the related weighted average period over which it is expected to be recognized is approximately 
2.19 years. 

 
During 2020, 35,425 shares were granted with a weighted average per share option price at the date of grant 
of $24.63.  The fair value of such options, which is based on the market price on the date of grant, is amortized 
to expense over the five-year vesting period.  The weighted average fair values of options granted in 2020 
were estimated to be $1.28 for an option to purchase one share of Company common stock; however, the 
Company’s common stock is not actively traded on any exchange.  Accordingly, the availability of fair value 
information for the Company’s common stock is limited.  Several assumptions have been made in arriving at 
the estimated fair value of the options outstanding at December 31, 2020.  These assumptions include no 
volatility in the Company’s stock price, 1.66% dividends paid on common stock in 2020, an expected 
weighted average option life of ten years, and a risk-free interest rate approximating the ten-year U.S. 
Treasury bond on the grant date.  Any change in these assumptions could have a significant impact on the 
effects of determining compensation costs, as disclosed herein. 
 
Cash received from options exercised for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 totaled $354,904 and 
$267,440 respectively.  The actual tax benefit realized for the tax deductions from options exercised totaled 
$244,895 and $165,977 for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. 
 
During 2020, the Company granted 46,390 stock appreciation rights to various officers and employees of the 
Company and Bank, with a grant date value $24.63.  There were no stock appreciation rights granted during 
2019.  The stock appreciation rights provide the recipient the opportunity to share in the appreciation of the 
Company’s common stock.  Each stock appreciation right vests one-fifth on its annual anniversary date, at 
which time the recipient is entitled to the appreciation of the Company’s common stock over the original 
grant date value of the Company’s common stock.  A liability for this appreciation is recorded on each vesting 
date and, once fully vested, for any further appreciation in the Company’s common stock until the stock 
appreciation right is exercised.  Each stock appreciation right must be exercised within ten years of the grant 
date.  At December 31, 2020 and 2019, a liability of $161,088 and $56,572, respectively, is included in other 
liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet for the vested balance of these stock appreciation rights.  Such 
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rights that were exercised or forfeited in totaled 5,640 and 4,150, respectively, in 2020 and 2,340 and 6,760, 
respectively in 2019.  Total stock appreciation rights outstanding at December 31, 2020 and 2019 totaled 
100,700 and 64,100, respectively. 
 
NOTE 12 – EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS  
The Company maintains a defined contribution 401(k) plan to provide retirement benefits to substantially all 
of its employees.  All employees meeting certain age and service requirements are eligible to participate in 
the plan.  Under the 401(k) plan, the Company may make discretionary matching contributions to the plan, 
up to the amount of employee contributions, subject to certain limitations.  Total contributions made by the 
Company under this plan were $617,155 and $567,405 for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, 
respectively. 
 
The Company and Bank maintain incentive deferral plans for certain of their directors, allowing such directors 
to defer their current compensation earned as directors, with the Company or Bank agreeing to pay to such 
directors, or their designated beneficiaries or survivors, the total amount of deferred compensation plus 
accumulated interest at or following retirement.  Under the plans, interest is added to the accumulated deferred 
compensation at a periodic compound rate equal to the Company’s return on equity from the previous year.  
The directors are expected to continue to render their normal service as directors to the Company or Bank 
from the date of the plan’s inception until retirement. 
 
The incentive deferral plans stipulate that, upon disability, termination, or death prior to retirement, the 
affected director (or his/her designated beneficiaries or survivors) would be vested in the total deferred 
compensation accumulated to that date, plus compounded interest.  Payments under the plan may be made in 
a lump sum or periodically over a specified time period, with interest. 
 
To fund the individual agreements with each director covered under the incentive deferral plans, the Company 
and Bank have purchased flexible-premium universal life insurance policies on the lives of such directors, 
payable upon death to the Company or Bank.  Each life insurance policy has a cash surrender value feature 
that allows the Company or Bank to receive an amount in cash upon cancelation or lapse of the policy.  The 
cash surrender value of the policies increases monthly, based upon an interest factor, net of mortality, 
administration, and early termination costs that are inherent in the contracts. 
 
The Company and Bank recognize annual compensation expense equal to the sum of the compensation 
deferred under the incentive deferral plans by the affected directors, plus interest applied to the accumulated 
balance of the deferred compensation.  An amount of $6,349,608 is included in other liabilities in the 
consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2020, representing the sum of all deferrals and interest additions 
accumulated to date. 
 
NOTE 13 – LITIGATION 
During the normal course of business, various legal claims have arisen which, in the opinion of management, 
will not result in any material liability to the Company. 
 
NOTE 14 – PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
The Bank’s dividends are the principal source of funds for the payment of dividends by the Company to its 
stockholders and for debt servicing.  The Bank is subject to regulations by regulatory authorities that require 
the maintenance of minimum capital requirements, and is also limited to the earnings of the current year and 
two previous years for the payment of dividends, without obtaining the prior approval of the Office of the 
Comptroller of the Currency.  
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Following are condensed balance sheets as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 and the related condensed 
schedules of income and cash flows (in thousands of dollars) for the years then ended of the Company (parent 
company only): 
 

Condensed Balance Sheets 2020 2019 
 Assets:  
  Cash   $ 142 412 
  Investment in subsidiary bank 154,836 140,628 
  Life insurance policies  718 707 
  Income tax receivable  1,536 1,191 
  Property and equipment, net     6 
  Other assets   212  57 
       $ 157,444 143,001 
 

 Liabilities:  
  Market adjustment of cash flow hedge $ 176  
  Accounts payable  593 454 
  Notes payable    5,643  6,550 
   Total liabilities   6,412 7,004 
 Total stockholders’ equity  151,032 135,997 
   Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 157,444 143,001 
 
Condensed Schedules of Income 2020 2019 
 Revenue: 
  Cash dividends from subsidiary banks $ 4,750 4,350 
  Other income   18  16 

   Total revenue   4,768  4,366 
 Expenses: 
    Salaries and benefits 207 140 
    Interest expense 254 349 
    Depreciation 1 6 
    Legal and professional fees 57 80 
    Miscellaneous expenses  144  228 
   Total expenses  663  803 
   Income before income tax benefit and equity in 
      undistributed net income of 
      subsidiary bank  4,105 3,563 
 Income tax benefit  844  225 
      4,949 3,788 
 Equity in undistributed net income 
  of subsidiary bank   9,761  9,747 
   Net income $  14,710  13,535 
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Condensed Schedules of Cash Flows 2020 2019 
Cash flows from operating activities: 
 Net income  $ 14,710 13,535 
 Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash 
  provided by operating activities: 
   Excess undistributed earnings of 
    subsidiary bank    (9,761) (9,747) 
   Increase in cash surrender value of life insurance policies  (11) (11) 
   Depreciation 1 6 
   Stock option expense 32 44 
   Other, net   (318)  619 
    Cash provided by operating activities  4,653  4,446 
Cash flows from investing activities  
 Capital injection into subsidiary bank      
 Net cash paid for acquisition of subsidiary       
    Cash used in investing activities       
Cash flows from financing activities: 
 Principal payments on notes payable (907) (997) 
 Dividends paid (2,850) (2,588) 
 Purchase of treasury stock (2,879) (2,022) 
 Stock options exercised  1,713  1,471 
    Cash used in financing activities   (4,923)  (4,136) 
    Net increase (decrease) in cash   (270) 310 
Cash at beginning of year     412  102 
   Cash at end of year $  142  412 

 
NOTE 15 – DISCLOSURES ABOUT FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
The Bank issues financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk in the normal course of the business of 
meeting the financing needs of its customers.  These financial instruments include commitments to extend 
credit and standby letters of credit and may involve, to varying degrees, elements of credit risk in excess of 
the amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets.  The contractual amounts of those instruments 
reflect the extent of involvement the Company has in particular classes of financial instruments. 
 
The Company’s exposure to credit loss in the event of nonperformance by the other party to the financial 
instrument for commitments to extend credit and standby letters of credit is represented by the contractual 
amount of those instruments.  The Bank uses the same credit policies in making commitments and conditional 
obligations as they do for financial instruments included on the consolidated balance sheets.  Following is a 
summary of the Company’s off-balance sheet financial instruments at December 31, 2020 and 2019: 

 
 2020 2019 

Financial instruments for which contractual 
  amounts represent:  

Commitments to extend credit $ 162,880,656 122,847,530 
Standby letters of credit   4,645,029  4,976,441 
   $ 167,525,685 127,823,971 

 
Commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to a customer as long as there is no violation of any 
condition established in the contract.  Of the total commitments to extend credit at December 31, 2020, 
$48,524,725 was made at fixed rates of interest.  Commitments generally have fixed expiration dates or other 
termination clauses and may require payment of a fee.  Since certain of the commitments may expire without 
being drawn upon, the total commitment amounts do not necessarily represent future cash requirements.  The 
Bank evaluates each customer’s creditworthiness on a case-by-case basis.  The amount of collateral obtained, 
if deemed necessary by the Bank upon extension of credit, is based on management’s credit evaluation of the 
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borrower.  Collateral held varies, but is generally residential or income-producing commercial property or 
equipment on which the Bank generally has a superior lien. 
 
Standby letters of credit are conditional commitments issued by the Bank to guarantee the performance of a 
customer to a third party.  Those guarantees are primarily issued to support public and private borrowing 
arrangements and historically have not been drawn upon.  The credit risk involved in issuing letters of credit 
is essentially the same as that involved in extending loan facilities to customers. 
 
On March 15, 2020, the Bank entered into an interest rate swap agreement with an unaffiliated financial 
institution to convert the variable interest rate on a loan to a fixed interest rate.  The swap agreement provides 
for the Bank to pay a fixed rate of  3.73% and to receive a variable rate of interest based on a designated 
public index from the lender.  The interest rate swap agreement expires March 15, 2025. 
 
Information pertaining to the outstanding interest rate swap agreement at December 31, 2020 is as follows: 
 
 Notional amount $ 5,643,309 
 Underlying loan balance   5,643,309 
 Fair value recorded in other liabilities   175,781 
 
The notional amounts of derivative financial instruments do not represent amounts exchanged by parties and, 
therefore, are not a measure of the Bank’s credit exposure through its use of these instruments.  The credit 
exposure represents the accounting loss the Bank would incur in the event the counterparties failed completely 
to perform according to the terms of the derivative financial instruments and the collateral held to support the 
credit exposure was of no value. 
 
NOTE 16 – REGULATORY MATTERS 
The Company and Bank are subject to various regulatory capital requirements administered by the federal 
banking agencies.  Failure to meet minimum capital requirements can initiate certain mandatory, and possible 
additional discretionary, actions by regulators that, if undertaken, could have a direct material effect on the 
Company’s consolidated financial statements.  Under capital adequacy guidelines and the regulatory 
framework for prompt corrective action, the Company and Bank must meet specific capital guidelines that 
involve quantitative measures of the Company’s and Bank’s assets, liabilities, and certain off-balance sheet 
items, as calculated under regulatory accounting practices.  The Company’s and Bank’s capital amounts and 
classifications are also subject to qualitative judgments by the regulators about components, risk weightings, 
and other factors. 
 
Quantitative measures established by regulation to ensure capital adequacy require the Bank to maintain 
minimum amounts and ratios (set forth in the table below) of Total, Tier 1, and Common Equity Tier 1 capital 
(as defined in the regulations) to risk-weighted assets (as defined), and of Tier 1 capital (as defined) to average 
assets (as defined).  At December 31, 2020, the Company qualified for treatment under the Small Bank 
Holding Company Policy Statement (Regulation Y, Appendix C) and, therefore, is not subject to the 
consolidated capital rules at the bank holding company level.  The Bank has also opted into the Community 
Bank Leverage Ratio (“CBLR”) framework, beginning with the call report filed for the first quarter of 2020.  
At December 31, 2020, the Bank’s CBLR ratio was 8.33% which exceeded all regulatory capital requirements 
under the CBLR framework and the Bank was considered to be ‘‘well-capitalized.’’ 
 
Banks and their bank holding companies that have less than $10 billion in total consolidated assets and meet 
other qualifying criteria, including a leverage ratio (equal to Tier 1 capital divided by average total 
consolidated assets) of greater than 9%, are eligible to opt into the CBLR framework.  Qualifying community 
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banking organizations that elect to use the CBLR framework and that maintain a leverage ratio of greater than 
9% will be considered to have satisfied the generally applicable risk-based and leverage capital requirements 
in the agencies’ capital rules (generally applicable rule) and, if applicable, will be considered to have met the 
well-capitalized ratio requirements for purposes of Section 38 of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act.  
Accordingly, a qualifying community banking organization that exceeds the 9% CBLR will be considered to 
have met: (i) the generally applicable risk-based and leverage capital requirements of the generally applicable 
capital rules; (ii) the capital ratio requirements in order to be considered well-capitalized under the prompt 
corrective action framework; and (iii) any other applicable capital or leverage requirements.  A qualifying 
community banking organization that elects to be under the CBLR framework generally would be exempt 
from the current capital framework, including risk-based capital requirements and capital conservation buffer 
requirements.  A banking organization meets the definition of a “qualifying community banking organization” 
if the organization has:   
 

• A leverage ratio of greater than 9%;  
 
• Total consolidated assets of less than $10 billion; 
 
• Total off-balance sheet exposures (excluding derivatives other than sold credit derivatives and 

unconditionally cancellable commitments) of 25% or less of total consolidated assets; and 
 
• Total trading assets plus trading liabilities of 5% or less of total consolidated assets. 

 
Even though a banking organization meets the above-stated criteria, federal banking regulators have reserved 
the authority to disallow the use of the CBLR framework by a depository institution or depository institution 
holding company, based on the risk profile of the banking organization.  
 
On April 6, 2020, the federal banking regulators, implementing the applicable provisions of the CARES Act, 
issued interim rules which modified the CBLR framework so that: (i) beginning in the second quarter 2020 
and until the end of the year, a banking organization that has a leverage ratio of 8% or greater and meets 
certain other criteria may elect to use the CBLR framework; and (ii) community banking organizations will 
have until January 1, 2022, before the CBLR requirement is reestablished at greater than 9%.  Under the 
interim rules, the minimum CBLR will be 8% beginning in the second quarter and for the remainder of 
calendar year 2020, 8.5% for calendar year 2021, and 9% thereafter.  The interim rules also maintain a two-
quarter grace period for a qualifying community banking organization whose leverage ratio falls no more 
than 1% below the applicable community bank leverage ratio. 
 
Company management believes, as of December 31, 2020, that the Company and Bank meet all capital 
adequacy requirements to which they are subject.  As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the most recent 
notification from applicable regulatory authorities categorized the Bank as well-capitalized under the 
regulatory framework for prompt corrective action.  To be categorized as a well-capitalized bank, the Bank 
that has not opted to use the CBLR option must maintain minimum Total risk-based, Tier 1 risk-based, 
Common Equity Tier 1 risk-based, and Tier 1 leverage ratios as set forth in the table below.  There are no 
conditions or events since those notifications that Company management believes have changed the Bank’s 
risk category. 
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and until the end of the year, a banking organization that has a leverage ratio of 8% or greater and meets 
certain other criteria may elect to use the CBLR framework; and (ii) community banking organizations will 
have until January 1, 2022, before the CBLR requirement is reestablished at greater than 9%.  Under the 
interim rules, the minimum CBLR will be 8% beginning in the second quarter and for the remainder of 
calendar year 2020, 8.5% for calendar year 2021, and 9% thereafter.  The interim rules also maintain a two-
quarter grace period for a qualifying community banking organization whose leverage ratio falls no more 
than 1% below the applicable community bank leverage ratio. 
 
Company management believes, as of December 31, 2020, that the Company and Bank meet all capital 
adequacy requirements to which they are subject.  As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the most recent 
notification from applicable regulatory authorities categorized the Bank as well-capitalized under the 
regulatory framework for prompt corrective action.  To be categorized as a well-capitalized bank, the Bank 
that has not opted to use the CBLR option must maintain minimum Total risk-based, Tier 1 risk-based, 
Common Equity Tier 1 risk-based, and Tier 1 leverage ratios as set forth in the table below.  There are no 
conditions or events since those notifications that Company management believes have changed the Bank’s 
risk category. 
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The Bank’s actual capital amounts and ratios at December 31, 2019 (prior to the Company opting to use the 
CBLR option) are presented in the following table: 
 

 To be a  
 well-capitalized 
 bank under 
      For capital prompt corrective 
  Actual   adequacy purposes  action provision  
 Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio 

  (in thousands of dollars) 
 Total capital (to risk-weighted assets): $ 123,968 12.32% $ 80,531 8.0% $ 100,663 10.0% 
 
 Tier 1 capital (to risk-weighted assets): $ 111,955 11.12% $ 60,398 6.0% $ 80,531 8.0% 
 
 Common Equity Tier 1 capital 
  (to risk-weighted assets):  $ 111,955 11.12% $ 45,298 4.5% $ 65,431 6.5% 
 
 Tier 1 capital (to average assets):  $ 111,955 8.62% $ 51,939 4.0% $ 64,924 5.0% 
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CNB Trust Operations Officer Ruth Menz crafts
masks for CNB employees as they prepare to
return to their offices after the statewide
“Stay-at-Home” order.

Assistant Vice President Susie Montgomery presents a
donation from CNB to the Taylorville Food Center.

The Restore Network was
presented with a donation from
CNB Bank & Trust in partnership
with FHLB Chicago on September
22, 2020. From left: Development
Director Ashley Alm from The
Restore Network and Gina Cox,
Retail Lending Officer with CNB
Bank & Trust N.A.

From left: Senior Universal Bankers Teresa
Clinton and Cassandra Howard and

Universal Banker Supervisor Heidi Werries
prepare to assist customers at the

Jacksonville W. Morton location front line
from behind the newly-installed plexi-

glass guards.
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www.cnbil.com.
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